



Prevention, Diagnosis and Management of Chronic Hepatitis B Infection: 2024 Clinical Practice Guidance Recommendations by GI and Liver Foundation (Myanmar)

Preamble

GI and Liver Foundation (Myanmar) has produced clinical practice guidelines on Hepatitis B, Hepatitis C and Cirrhosis of the Liver to assist all the practicing doctors in the treatment of Liver Diseases.

However, AASLD has recently adopted a policy to differentiate between guidelines and guidance. AASLD published guidelines on some topics and guidance on some other diseases.

And therefore, it's time for GLF (Myanmar) to review the policy whether it should be clinical practice guidelines or guidance in future publications. For that purpose, GLF (Myanmar) decided to follow the AASLD policy.

According to the AASLD, practice guidelines use clinically relevant questions, which are then answered by systematic reviews of the literature and followed by data-supported recommendations. The guidelines are developed by a multidisciplinary panel of experts who rate the quality (level) of the evidence and the strength of each recommendation using the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development, and Evaluation system ("GRADE"). (AASLD Family of Websites: **AASLD.org**)

AASLD also publishes guidance on aspects of some topics. Practice guidances are based on a comprehensive review and analysis of relevant published data and put forward guidance statements to help clinicians understand and implement the most recent evidence. (AASLD Family of Websites: **AASLD.org**)

By AASLD policy mentioned above what GLF (Myanmar) has published are not practice guidelines but practice guidance. Therefore, future GLF (Myanmar) clinical practice publications will be labelled as "GLF (Myanmar) Clinical Practice Guidance".

Prof. Khin Maung Win

M.Med.Sc (Int. Med), FRCP (London), FRCP (Glasgow), FRCP (Edin), FAASLD
Honorary Professor, Department of Hepatology
University of Medicine 1, Yangon, Myanmar
Chairman, Yangon GI and Liver Centre (YGLC)
Founder and Senior Patron, GI and Liver Foundation (Myanmar)

Clinical Practice Guidance Committee for HBV Infection

Chairs and Reviewers	Writer groups
Prof. Khin Maung Win	 Dr. Aung Hlaing Bwa Dr. Si Thu Sein Win
Prof. Kyaw Soe Tun	Dr. Min Aung Shan
Prof. Thandar Tun	 Prof. Nang Kay Thi Win Dr. Moe Zaw Maung Dr. Wint Shwe Yee Htet
Prof. Win Win Swe	Dr May Kyi KyawDr Han Su YinDr Aye Mon Oo
Prof. Naing Naing Tun	Dr. Dr. Nyein Mon YuDr. Kay Khine ThweDr. Kyaw Zin Myint

ABBREVIATIONS

AASLD American association for the study of liver diseases

ADV <u>Adefovir Dipivoxil</u>

AFP Alpha fetoprotein

ALT Alanine Transaminase

Anti-HBc Antibodies to HBcAg

Anti-HBs Antibodies to HBsAg

APASL Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver

AST Aspartate transaminase

cccDNA covalently closed circular DNA

CDC Centers for Disease Control

CHB Chronic Hepatitis B

CTP Child-Turcotte-Pugh

DMR Department of Medical Research

DNA Deoxyribonucleic acid

DOPH Department of Public Health

EASL European Association for the Study of the Liver

EHLI Evident histological liver injury

EPI Expanded Program of Immunization

ETV <u>Entecavir</u>

GAVI Global Alliance for Vaccines Introduction

GGT Gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase

GLF GI and Liver Foundation

HBIG Hepatitis B Immunoglobulin

HBcAb Hepatitis B core Antibody

HBeAg Hepatitis B e antigen

HBsAg Hepatitis B surface antigen

HBV Hepatitis B virus

HCC Hepatocellular carcinoma

HCP Health care personnel

HCV Hepatitis C virus

HCWs Health care workers

HIV Human immunodeficiency virus

IBBS/PSE Integrated Biological and Behavioral Surveillance Survey and Population Size

Estimates

IFN Interferon

IgM Immunoglobulin M

INR International normalized ratio

kPa Kilopascal

LAM <u>Lamivudine</u>

LdT <u>Telbivudine</u>

LLV Low-level viremia

LMICs Low-income and middle-income countries

LSMs Liver stiffness measurements

MRE Magnetic resonance elastography

MSM Men who have sex with men

MTCT Mother to Child Transmission

NAs Nucleos(t)ide Analogues

NHCP National Hepatitis Control Program

Peg-IFN Peg-interferon

RDT Rapid Diagnostic Test

RT Reverse Transcriptase

STDs Sexually Transmitted Diseases

TAF Tenofovir Alafenamide

TDF Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate

TE Transient elastography

TFV Tenofovir

ULN Upper limit of normal

USG Ultrasound

WHO World Health Organization

CONTENTS	Page
Introduction	1
1. Epidemiology of Chronic Hepatitis B in Myanmar	4
2. Screening, Counseling and Prevention of Hepatitis B	
2.1 Screening	5
2.2 Counseling	10
2.3 Prevention	13
2.3.1 Prevention through avoiding to risk of HBV transmission	13
2.3.2 Prevention through HBV vaccination	14
2.3.3 Post Exposure Prophylaxis for HBV infection	18
2.3.4 Follow up HBsAb testing and Booster doses	21
3. Definitions and Phases of Chronic Hepatitis B	24
4. Selected Diagnostic Tests Used in Management of Chronic Hepatitis B	26
4.1 HBV serological markers	26
4.2 HBV-DNA quantitation	27
4.3 HBV genotypes	27
4.4 Quantitative HBsAg (q HBsAg Assay)	29
4.5 Non-invasive diagnosis of liver fibrosis	30
4.6 Imaging diagnosis	31
4.7 Liver biopsy	31
5. Screening for HCC	32
6. Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B	33
7. Monitoring and follow-up management of patients during antiviral therapy	40
8. Management of Chronic Hepatitis B in Special Populations	
8.1 Acute Hepatitis B infection	42
8.2 Persons with persistent low-level viremia on NA therapy	43
8.3 Renal and bone disease in persons on NA therapy	44
8.4 Management of Chronic Hepatitis B in Pregnancy	47
8.5 Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B in children and adolescents	52
8.6 Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B in co-infected patients	56
References	59

Introduction

Hepatitis B infection is caused by the hepatitis B virus (HBV), an enveloped DNA virus. HBV infection can be either acute or chronic and may range from asymptomatic infection or mild disease, to severe or rarely fulminant hepatitis. Acute hepatitis B is usually a self-limiting disease with a case fatality rate of 0.5–1%. Chronic hepatitis B (CHB) is defined by the presence of detectable HBsAg in the blood or serum for longer than six months and encompasses a spectrum of disease. Age of exposure is a key factor in determining the risk of chronic infection and chronicity is common following acquisition in childhood. [1] Once the infection becomes chronic, it is extremely refractory and is difficult to cure, despite recent developments of treatment measures.

HBV infection is an important global public health problem and cause of chronic liver disease that led to an estimated 820,000 deaths in 2019, mainly due to cirrhosis and liver cancer. In 2019, WHO estimated that at least two billion people, or one-third of the world's population, have been infected with HBV infection. Approximately 296 million people or about 6 % of the world's population were chronically infected and living with hepatitis B, with a disproportionately high burden in low- and middle-income countries according to WHO, 2024. Ultimately, around one third of the chronically infected HBV patients will eventually develop cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). In Myanmar, HBV is estimated to cause 60% of HCC cases. [2]

Overall, almost half of the global population lives in areas of high endemicity with a large regional variation of HBsAg positive patients between low (<2%) and high (>8%) endemicity levels ^[3,4], placing them at increased risk of developing cirrhosis, hepatic decompensation, and HCC. The WHO African region, together with the South-East Asia Region and Western Pacific Region account for 88% of the global burden. The prevalence is decreasing in several highly endemic countries due to improvements in the socioeconomic status, universal vaccination programs and perhaps effective antiviral treatments. ^[5] Myanmar is one of the countries for the high prevalence and transmission of HBV infection. According to 2015 National Prevalence Survey for Hepatitis B and C carried out by the Department of Medical Research (DMR), prevalence of the hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) among the general population is 6.5%.

Due to its largely asymptomatic nature, viral hepatitis is a silent epidemic; most people are unaware of their infection. Since knowledge of the various risks and transmission routes is

central to preventing the spread of hepatitis, increasing awareness is another critical component of the global public health response.

Most of the global burden of Chronic Hepatitis B (CHB) can be attributed to mother-to-child transmission at the time of or shortly after birth, and such perinatal infections lead to a high rate of chronicity. Considerable progress has been made towards eliminating the perinatal transmission of HBV through universal infant HBV immunization, including the timely hepatitis B birth dose, which has been highly effective in reducing new infections among children. However, in 2022 hepatitis B birth-dose coverage was only 45% globally, with the lowest coverage (18%) in the WHO African Region according to WHO, 2024.

Myanmar has a national policy for Chronic Hepatitis B prevention with birth dose and pentavalent hepatitis B vaccination scheme. Pentavalent vaccination as a part of the Expanded Program of Immunization (EPI) program was initiated in 2013 but birth dose hepatitis B vaccination is limited to the hospital deliveries since 2010. Due to the lack of regular support for the birth dose vaccination program, it was reported only 7% of hospital deliveries have been covered in 2018. ^[6]

The antiviral treatment for HBV can be categorized into 2 groups: interferons and nucleos(t)ide analogues (NAs). The injectable forms of PEGylated interferon alfa (alfa 2a or alfa 2b) are available for HBV therapy. However, its use is limited by cost and adverse effects which includes cytopenia, exacerbation of neuropsychiatric symptoms and induction of autoantibodies. So close monitoring by the attending physician is necessary. Interferon is contraindicated in patients with mental health disorders, pregnancy, autoimmune disease and decompensated cirrhosis. Moreover, overall responses to PEGylated interferon for 48 weeks remain unsatisfactory. [7]

For people with chronic hepatitis B infection, nucleoside analogue treatment with currently recommended tenofovir and entecavir is low cost, ease of administration, once daily regimen, excellent adverse effects profile, highly efficacy and can delay the progression of cirrhosis, reduce the incidence of HCC and improve long-term survival. [7]

However, a major testing and treatment gap remains. In 2019, only 10% of the estimated 296 million people with CHB had been diagnosed and 2% had been treated. Scaling up testing and treatment towards the elimination goals will require a radical simplification of treatment criteria and care pathways to overcome barriers in access to Chronic Hepatitis B testing and treatment.

The global goal is to eliminate viral hepatitis as a public threat by 2030, with targets to reduce the incidence of chronic hepatitis infection from the current 6-10 million cases to 0.9 million and the annual deaths from chronic hepatitis from 1.4 million to less than 0.5 million by 2030. [8]

The 67th World Health Assembly in May 2014 approved a resolution to improve the prevention, diagnosis and treatment of viral hepatitis. In November 2014, Myanmar initiated the establishment of a National Hepatitis Control Program (NHCP) following the resolution set up by the WHO. [59]

At the 69th World Health Assembly, adopted the global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis (2016-2021) with a vision of a world in which viral hepatitis transmission is halted and everyone living with viral hepatitis has access to safe, affordable, and effective care and treatment. In April 2016, Regional Action Plan for Hepatitis in the South-East Asia Region was approved by Member States. Myanmar is taking a public health approach to the treatment and care of viral hepatitis, treating not only mono-infected patients but also those co-infected with HIV, in line with the WHO's strategic directions and the National Clinical Treatment Guidelines. Elimination can only be achieved through collaboration, coordination and cooperation among all stakeholders. [59]

GI and Liver Foundation (Myanmar) was actively participated in elimination of viral hepatitis since established, 2018. Nearly 50,000 of people were tested for HBV and HCV infection especially throughout the outreach area of Myanmar and all the people with HBsAg negative had been given the HBV vaccination.

The objective of the "Clinical Practice Guidance Recommendations by GI and Liver Foundation (Myanmar) 2024" is to provide updated evidence-informed recommendations on key priority topics. These include the use of non-invasive tests for staging of liver disease; considerations for availability and drug resistance over time; expanded and simplified treatment criteria for adults but now also for adolescents; "Testing", "Vaccination" and "Treat all" strategies for all adults (18 years); expanded eligibility for antiviral prophylaxis for pregnant women to prevent mother-to-child transmission of HBV infection.

1. Epidemiology of Chronic Hepatitis B in Myanmar

The prevalence of HBV infection is highly heterogeneous throughout the world; an estimated 296 million people are chronic carriers of HBsAg in worldwide. Age-specific HBsAg seroprevalence varies markedly by geographical region. Overall, almost half the global population lives in areas of high endemicity. with an intermediate to high prevalence in the Asia-Pacific region, representing three-quarters of chronic HBV-positive subjects worldwide. [9] In addition, the Western Pacific region (defined by the WHO as 37 countries including China, Japan, South Korea, Philippines, and Vietnam) accounts for nearly 50 % of all chronic HBV infection globally, although it has less than one-third of the world's population. [10] It is estimated that the South-East Asia Region has nearly 100 million people with chronic hepatitis B, and they account for more than 5.6% of the global population. More than 300 000 people are estimated to die each year in the Region as a result of the chronic consequences of hepatitis B, particularly cirrhosis and liver cancer. The data based on 2000-2010, a low prevalence of HBV infection less than 1% in two countries – Nepal and Sri Lanka; intermediate prevalence (2-6%) in seven countries – Bangladesh, Bhutan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, India, Maldives, Thailand and Timor-Leste; and high prevalence (more than 10%) in two countries – Indonesia and Myanmar. [11]

In Myanmar, HBV prevalence in general population was 10-12%. ^[12] The prevalence of HBV infection in different regions or townships or different populations were found out by different research groups. ^[13] In the 2014 IBBS/PSE study (Integrated Biological and Behavioral Surveillance Survey and Population Size Estimates), among intravenous drug users in Myanmar, one of the sub-populations, HBV infection was 7.3%. The prevalence of HIV/HBV co-infection was found to be 2.2%, and HIV/HBV/HCV combined coinfection was 20.7%. ^[14]

The national prevalence survey for hepatitis B and C was conducted in Myanmar by the Department of Medical Research (DMR) and the Department of Public Health (DOPH) from May to November of 2015 in 18 study sites covering all States and Regions. Key preliminary results from the prevalence survey showed that the disease burden for hepatitis B in the general population was 6.51%. The HBV prevalence by urban rural populations was 6.1% (urban), 3.2% (rural) respectively. [15]

The highest HBV prevalence (7.4%) was found in 30-39 years of age group. Male had significantly higher prevalence than female gender (9:5.5) for HBV infection. The highest

occurrence of hepatitis B Surface Antigen (HBsAg) positivity was found in Yangon region (Hlinethaya Township) (12.3%), Pathein (9.15%), and Mawlamyine (7.84%) and the lowest was 3.3% in Magway Region. It may be due to urban population (population density) and floating population who are probably exposed to more risk factors of transmission, geography, economic level, lack of knowledge to risk factors of transmission. ^[15]

The risk factors associated with transmission of hepatitis B were male gender, history of liver disease or hepatitis and history of household contacts and no history of HBV vaccination. History of household contact, sharing razor and tooth brush were two times associated with HBV infection. [15]

2. Screening, Counseling and Prevention of Hepatitis B

2.1 Screening

The prevalence of HBsAg varies greatly across countries, with high prevalence of HBsAg-positive persons defined as ≥8%, intermediate as 2% to 7%, and low as <2%. ^[16,17] In developed countries, the prevalence is higher among those who immigrated from high- or intermediate-prevalence countries and in those with high-risk behaviors. ^[17,18] Myanmar is one of the countries for the high prevalence and transmission of HBV infection.

The impact of vaccination has been profound in reducing the global burden of HBV, particularly in children and young adults, but millions of chronic HBV-infected patients remain. In the interim, there is good established treatment for patients chronically infected with HBV that can reduce liver-related outcomes, although HBsAg clearance is still not a realistic goal.

The preventive measures, effective screening of those infections and early treatment are important to consider and perform to reduce transmission. Preventive measures include the screening and testing of blood, plasma, organ, and tissue donors, risk reduction counseling and services, implementation and maintenance of infection control practices, identification, counseling and testing of persons at risk, medical management of infected persons, health education, surveillance and research.

With the WHO resolution on viral hepatitis, the WHO has launched a number of initiatives, which include the Global Hepatitis Network and a Framework for Action, in order to tackle these issues. It is recognized that one of the major obstacles to action remains the large burden of undiagnosed cases of chronic HBV infection around the globe. Screening for hepatitis B infection is an important tool to discover new cases of chronic infection.

2.1.1 Risk factor for screening

HBV infection is regarded as a highly infectious disease as it is known to survive outside of the body for at least 7 days. [19] HBV is transmitted by perinatal, percutaneous, mucosal, sexual exposure and non-intact skin exposure to infected blood (presumably by open cuts and sores, especially among children in hyper-endemic areas) or body fluids (saliva, menstrual, vaginal and seminal). Amongst adults, HBV is primarily transmitted through percutaneous exposure to infected blood or unsafe sexual intercourse. Studies of needle-stick injuries in healthcare workers have shown HBV to be 10-100-fold more infectious than HIV. Exposure to infectious blood most commonly occurs through the sharing of needles and syringes, razor blades, and other injecting equipment. It may also occur through healthcareassociated practices, such as transfusions of HBV-infected blood and blood products and contaminated injections during medical procedures, or through use of multi-dose vials of medications or vaccines. Adults and older children who are exposed through percutaneous or sexual exposure have a 1% to 10% risk of progressing to chronic infection. The risk of chronic infection becomes significantly higher in adults with impaired immunity, e.g., persons with HIV infection. In addition, immunosuppressed persons are more likely to develop chronic HBV infection after acute infection. [20]

In most countries where HBV is endemic, perinatal transmission remains the most important cause of chronic infection, mostly in children of HBV-infected mothers who do not receive appropriate HBV immunoprophylaxis at birth. The risk of developing chronic HBV infection after acute exposure ranges from 90% in newborns of HBeAg-positive mothers to 25%-30% in infants and children under 5 to less than 5% in adults. [21-25]

In countries with high endemicity, >90 % of new infections occurred among infants and young children as the result of perinatal or household transmission, while in countries of low endemicity (i.e., HBsAg prevalence of <2 %), the majority of new infections occur among adolescents and adults as a result of sexual and injection-drug use exposures. In countries of intermediate HBV endemicity, multiple modes of transmission operate, i.e., perinatal, household, sexual, injection-drug use, and health-care related. HBV transmission can occur if an unvaccinated person becomes exposed to the virus. In high prevalence areas like Myanmar, perinatal transmission (mother-to-child transmission during pregnancy, delivery, or soon after) is the most common mode of HBV transmission. [26]

There is a need for targeted screening for HBV infection in high-risk individuals because the infection remains asymptomatic in a vast majority of infected individuals, especially those who acquire infection at birth or during childhood. Screening of the general population may be cost effective in finding new cases in countries with high prevalence, but it is not in regions with low prevalence. In countries with intermediate prevalence, it would depend upon the socioeconomic status. However, it is worth doing screening of 'high-risk groups' irrespective of prevalence and socioeconomic status. WHO [27] and most other international guidelines [28-30] recommend that high-risk groups (Table 1) be screened for HBsAg and that those at risk and not immune should be offered hepatitis B vaccination. Population-based screening is also recommended for migrants from endemic countries. [31]

In Myanmar, if possible, everybody should be tested for hepatitis B infection. However, high-risk groups with respect to HBV (Table 1) have shown a higher prevalence than the general population. They should be prioritized for HBV testing and vaccinated if non-immune and HBsAg negative.

2.1.2 Screening tests

Screening tests are inexpensive and cost effective in populations at higher prevalence, as cost per case identified decreases, and they have the potential to reduce HBV-associated morbidity and mortality. Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) test is the primary way to definitively diagnose chronic HBV infection. WHO guidelines recommend using a single quality-assured serological in vitro diagnostic test {either a laboratory-based immunoassay; enzyme immunoassay or chemiluminescence immunoassay or rapid diagnostic test (RDT)} to detect HBsAg that meets minimum performance standards.

The total hepatitis B core antibody (HBcAb) test tells if a person has been previously exposed to HBV. Individuals with HIV infection or those about to undergo HCV or immunosuppressive therapy are at risk for potential reactivation if they have preexisting HBV and should be screened for anti-HBc. [32,33] Because of the risk for HBV transmission, screening for anti-HBc occurs routinely testing in organ donors. [32] The risk of infection after blood transfusion and transplantation of non-hepatic solid organs (kidneys, lungs, heart) from persons with isolated anti-HBc is low: 0–13 %. [34] The risk of infection after transplantation of liver from HBsAg-negative, anti-HBc-positive donors has been reported to be as high as 75 % and is related to the HBV immune status of the recipients. [35] If anti-HBc-positive donor organs are used for HBV seronegative recipients, antiviral therapy should be administered to prevent

de novo HBV infection. While the optimal duration of prophylactic therapy has not been determined, a limited duration, such as 6–12 months, may be sufficient for transplantation of non-hepatic solid organs. For transplantation of livers, lifelong antiviral therapy is recommended, but whether Hepatitis B Immunoglobulin (HBIG) is necessary is unclear. [36]

A large number of studies of epidemiology of chronic HBV infection only examine those who are detected to be HBsAg seropositive, but little is known of screening uptake (% of patients who agree to take the test), and of these, how many were referred and evaluated as requiring therapy. Consequently, screening to detect seropositive patients is insufficient as a management strategy, without proper linkage to care. Other recommended interventions to promote the uptake of hepatitis testing and linkage to care include peer and lay health worker support in community-based settings, clinician reminders in facilities and testing as part of integrated services within drug treatment and community-based harm-reduction services.

The Institute of Medicine recommendations ^[37], they found that US and many other countries infrastructure for management of chronic viral hepatitis was poor, and broadly recommended three important initiatives: increased disease surveillance, improved provider and community education, and integration and enhancement of viral hepatitis services. In particular, the viral hepatitis services should encompass five core elements in a coordinated and comprehensive manner - outreach and awareness; prevention of new infections; identification of infected people; social and peer support; and medical management of infected people, as otherwise newly diagnosed patients will be lost and will not receive the benefit of potential therapy that may be lifesaving.

Consequently, the logistic chain of screening begins with information and education, followed by agreement to undergo testing, testing itself, and then evaluation; it ends with treatment in those who need it. Moreover, many stakeholders need to come together and coordinate efforts and resources in order for this strategy to be effective. However, screening itself is a major exercise. National programs are required to plan screening and treatment strategies. Building on country-specific information on policies and structures will be necessary to increase the availability of treatment for those infected.

Table 1. Groups at high risk for HBV infection who should be screened $^{[38-40]}$

No.	Groups at high risk for HBV infection				
1	All persons born in Myanmar as routine checkup testing (because of Myanmar is				
2	being in region of high prevalence of HBV infection) Persons with chronic liver disease				
3	Individuals with elevated ALT or AST of unknown etiology				
4	HCV- or HIV-infected individuals				
4					
5	Family members, household contacts, sex partners of a person infected with chronic				
	hepatitis B				
6	Infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers				
7	Persons needing immunosuppressive or cancer chemotherapy				
8	Injection drug users with needle-sharing				
	Persons who receive unsafe injections (used syringes or needles) or persons who are				
9	9 the source of blood or body fluid exposures that might require post-exposure				
	prophylaxis				
10	Health care and public safety workers at risk for occupational exposure to blood or				
10	blood-contaminated body fluids				
11	Men who have sex with men (MSM), persons with multiple sexual partners, h				
11	of sexually transmitted diseases (STDs)				
12	Routine screening to all pregnant women				
13	Dialysis patients				
14	Donors of blood, plasma, organs tissues, or semen				
15	Inmates of correctional facilities				
16	Travelers to and families adopting from countries where hepatitis B is common (e.g. Asia, Africa, South America, Pacific Islands, Eastern Europe, and the Middle East)				

Recommendations (Screening)

- 1. Screening is recommended in all persons especially in high risk groups by using HBsAg testing.
- 2. Screening for anti-HBc to determine prior exposure is not routinely recommended but is an important test in patients who are about to undergo chemotherapies or other immunosuppressive therapies and in donated organ for liver transplantation.
- 3. Screening should be linked to appropriate counseling and referral for further care including clinical evaluation, need for treatment and vaccination if found to be negative for HBV infection.

2.2 Counseling of Persons who are HBsAg Positive

Patients with chronic HBV infection should be counseled regarding lifestyle modifications and prevention of transmission as well as the importance of lifelong monitoring. No specific dietary measures have been shown to have any effect on the progression of CHB per se, but metabolic syndrome and fatty liver contribute to liver-related morbidity. [41,42] Ingestion of > 7 drinks of alcohol per week for women and > 14 drinks per week for men are associated with increased risk of cirrhosis and HCC. [43,44] Studies evaluating the risk of lesser amounts of alcohol intake are sparse [45] but the conservative approach is to recommend abstinence or minimal alcohol ingestion. [46,47] Individuals with CHB should be immunized against hepatitis A if not already immune. [48]

HBsAg-positive persons should be counseled regarding transmission to others (Table 2). Because of increased risk of acquiring HBV infection, household members and sexual partners should be vaccinated if they test negative for HBV serological markers. For casual sex partners or steady partners who have not been tested or have not completed the full immunization series, barrier protection methods should be utilized. Transmission of HBV from infected health care workers (HCWs) to patients has been shown to occur in rare instances. [49] For persons with CHB who are HCWs, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention recommends that those who perform exposure prone procedures should seek counseling and advice from an expert review panel. [50] If serum HBV DNA exceeds 1,000 IU/mL, antiviral therapy is recommended, and performance of exposure-prone procedures is permitted if serum HBV DNA is suppressed to <1,000 IU/mL and maintained below that cutoff. [50]

Unless prone to biting, no special arrangements need to be made for HBV-infected children in the community other than practicing universal precautions in daycare centers, schools, sports clubs, and camps. [38]

Table 2. Recommendations for Infected Persons Regarding Prevention of Transmission of HBV to Others

No.	Persons Who Are HBsAg Positive Should:
1	Have household and sexual contacts vaccinated
2	Use barrier protection during sexual intercourse if partner is not vaccinated or is not naturally immune
3	Not share toothbrushes or razors
4	Not share injection equipment, glucose testing equipment
5	Cover open cuts and scratches
6	Clean blood spills with bleach solution
7	Not donate blood, organs, or sperm
8	Can participate in all activities, including contact sports
9	Children should not be excluded from daycare or school participation and should
,	not be isolated from other children
10	Can share food and utensils and kiss others

Recommendations (Counseling of Persons who are HBsAg Positive)

- 4. HBsAg-positive persons should be counseled regarding prevention of transmission of HBV to others according to Table 2.
- 5. Abstinence of alcohol is recommended in chronic HBV-infected persons.
- 6. Optimization of body weight and treatment of metabolic complications, including control of diabetes and dyslipidemia, are recommended to prevent concurrent development of metabolic syndrome and fatty liver.
- 7. Health care workers and students who are HBsAg positive should not be excluded from training or practice but they should not perform exposure-prone procedures if their serum HBV-DNA level exceeds 1,000 IU/ml. They can perform exposure-prone procedures if their HBV DNA level is reduced or maintained below 1,000 IU/ml and on NA therapy.
- 8. Chronic HBV-infected subjects should not be discriminated and stigmatized in the society or in their work place.
- 9. HBV-infected children should not be isolated in the educational and social environment.
- 10. Sexual and household contacts of chronic HBV-infected persons who are negative for HBV seromarkers should receive hepatitis B vaccination.

2.2.1 Counseling of HBsAg- positive women in pregnancy

All pregnant women should be screened for HBsAg. Pregnant women with HBsAg positive should be encouraged to discuss with Hepatologist and obstetrician and/or pediatrician for the prevention of mother-to-child transmission. Chronic HBV infection does not usually affect the outcome of pregnancy unless the mother has cirrhosis or advanced liver disease. However, extra care is necessary to evaluate the mother and to ensure that the infant receives hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) and hepatitis B vaccine (HBV vaccine) within 12 hours of birth. [38,51] HBIG and concurrent hepatitis B vaccine have been shown to be 95 % efficacious in the prevention of perinatal transmission of HBV; the efficacy is lower for mothers with very high serum HBV DNA levels (>7–8 log10 IU/ml). [52,53] However, in very resource-limited settings, universal vaccination alone is optimal. [54] Infants of HBsAg-positive mothers should undergo post vaccination testing at 9-15 months of age.

Antiviral therapy in the third trimester is recommended for pregnant women with serum HBV DNA >200,000 IU/mL. ^[55,56] AASLD recommended that Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF) is the preferred choice owing to its antiviral potency and concerns for resistance with the other antiviral agents.

The risk of mother-to-child transmission must be considered when assessing the potential benefit of amniocentesis in highly viremic women. Although antiviral drug labels do not recommend breastfeeding when taking these drugs, clinical studies support the safety of TDF drugs during breastfeeding. [57,58] Sexual partners of women identified as HBV infected during pregnancy should be assessed for HBV infection or immunity and receive HBV vaccine if appropriate.

Recommendations (Counseling of HBsAg- positive women in pregnancy)

- 11. Women identified as HBsAg positive during pregnancy should be linked to care for additional testing (ALT, HBeAg, HBV DNA, USG) and determination of need for antiviral therapy.
- 12. Women who meet standard indications for HBV therapy should be treated. Women who meet prophylaxis indications to prevent mother-to-child transmission should be treated in the second trimester.
- 13. HBV-infected pregnant women with cirrhosis should be managed in high-risk obstetrical practices and treated with Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF) to prevent decompensation.
- 14. Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF) is safe in pregnancy.
- 15. Breastfeeding is not prohibited while the mother is on anti-viral therapy or infants who receive active/passive immunization.
- 16. Newborns of HBV-infected mothers should receive HBIG and HBV vaccine within 12 hours of delivery and complete the recommended vaccination series according to EPI (Expanded Program on Immunization) Program. Infants of HBsAg-positive mothers should undergo post vaccination testing at 9-15 months of age.
- 17. Sexual partners of women identified as HBV infected during pregnancy should be assessed for HBV infection or immunity and receive HBV vaccine if appropriate.

2.3 Prevention for Chronic Hepatitis B

2.3.1 Prevention through avoiding to risk of HBV transmission

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) can cause acute, fulminant, or chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Despite the progress of antiviral therapy against HBV to suppress viral replication and to reduce complications in those with chronic hepatitis B, a cure for infection is still not possible. So, prevention is more effective than therapy for HBV infection. To prevent HBV infection effectively, it is crucial to understand its route of transmission. HBV infection is transmitted through either a horizontal route or through a mother-to-infant route, and the latter is the major route in endemic areas.

The hepatitis B virus is transmitted through blood and sexual fluids. This can most commonly occur in the following ways (Table 3):

Table 3. Routes of transmission for HBV infection

No.	Routes of transmission for HBV infection		
1	Direct contact with infected blood and blood products		
2	From an infected pregnant person to their newborn during pregnancy and childbirth		
3	Needles and other medical/dental equipments or procedures that are contaminated or not sterile		
4	Unprotected sex		
5	Use of illegal or "street" drugs		
6	Body piercing, tattooing, acupuncture and even nail salons		
7	Sharing sharp instruments such as razors, toothbrushes, nail clippers, earrings and body jewelry		

WHO and most other international guidelines recommend that high-risk groups should be screened for HBsAg and that those at risk and not immune should be offered hepatitis B vaccination. Other prevention strategies, such as screening the blood products, proper sterilization of injection needles and syringes, and avoidance of risky behaviors, such as parenteral drug abuse, tattoo, or skin piercing, may preclude HBV horizontal transmission. Education to avoid high-risk behaviors should be advocated in addition to vaccination.

Myanmar is one of the countries for the high prevalence and transmission of HBV infection. So, people who live in Myanmar should be tested for HBV infection and people who do not have HBV infection should be vaccinated against for HBV infection. The most important thing also is people who live in Myanmar must be known the risk of transmission for HBV infection and should be avoided HBV transmission routes (Table 3).

2.3.2 Prevention through HBV vaccination

The global public health response to viral hepatitis recognizes that surveillance and control are vital to ensuring that testing, care, and treatment are available to all people who need these services in every country around the world. As there is an effective vaccine for hepatitis B, immunization has been a central strategy for most countries to reduce the burden of hepatitis B. [59] HBV immunization can be classified into passive and active immunization. Passive immunization using hepatitis B immunoglobulin (HBIG) provides temporary immunity, whereas active immunization by the vaccine yields long-term immunity.

Prevention of HBV infection by immunization is the best way to eliminate HBV-related diseases. The HBV vaccine is the first human vaccine using a viral antigen from infected persons, which is safe and either passive immunization by hepatitis B immunoglobulin (HBIG) or active immunization by HBV vaccine is effective, and a combination of both yields the best efficacy in preventing HBV infection.

The strategy for the vaccination of all unvaccinated persons should be adopted irrespective of the presence or absence of risk factors if the resources are available. The impact of universal HBV immunization is huge, with 90% - 95% effectiveness in preventing chronic HBV infection. It is the first cancer preventive vaccine with a protective efficacy against HCC of $\sim 70\%$. Nevertheless, further effort is still needed to avoid vaccine failure and to increase the global coverage rate.

The global hepatitis B vaccine coverage rate was estimated at 75%, and was as high as 91% in the Western Pacific and 89% in the Americas. Coverage in Southeast Asia reached 52% in 2010. In 2011, 180 countries had introduced infant HBV vaccination, and the global HBV vaccination coverage rate for the third dose was estimated to be ~ 78%.

2.3.2.1 Vaccination for Infants

Universal HBV vaccination in infancy is more effective than selective immunization for high-risk groups. Considerable progress has been made towards eliminating the perinatal transmission of HBV through universal infant HBV immunization, including the timely hepatitis B birth dose, which has been highly effective in reducing new infections among children. Since 2009, WHO has recommended that all infants receive 3–4 doses of HBV vaccine, with the first dose administered as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours, and followed by subsequent doses of HBV vaccine according to Expanded Program of Immunization policies. That means, the birth dose should be followed by two or three doses to complete the primary series to induce protective antibody concentrations in more than 95% of infants. The last vaccine dose should not be given before 24 weeks of age. [60] Only monovalent HBV vaccine should be used for preterm or term infants younger than 6 weeks.

In Myanmar, Expanded Program of Immunization (EPI) schedule is recommended that the single dose monovalent vaccination should be within 12 hours of birth for first dose of HBV vaccination followed by second dose in 4 weeks, third dose in 8 weeks, fourth dose in 24 weeks and booster dose in one and half year of age. The dosage for newborn is 10 µg regardless of the birth weight.

Universal HBV immunization programs still have not been established all over the world, mainly because of limited resources. However, in 2022 hepatitis B birth-dose coverage was only 45% globally, with the lowest coverage (18%) in the WHO African Region. Although hepatitis B vaccine administered at birth or early childhood has been effective in reducing the incidence and prevalence of hepatitis B in most endemic regions ^[61], it will not affect the rates of end-stage liver disease or HCC for 20–40 years after the introduction of universal infant immunization. ^[62] Further increase of the global coverage rates of infant HBV vaccination is an important issue toward a better control of hepatitis B and HCC.

In Myanmar, the Ministry of Health introduced the hepatitis B vaccine combined with routine Expanded Program of Immunization (EPI) for all infants in 2003 with assistance from Global Alliance for Vaccines Introduction (GAVI). The coverage of hepatitis B vaccination in the EPI was gradually increased 62% to 90% from 2005 to 2010 in all states and divisions in Myanmar. Recombinant hepatitis B vaccine plant at Department of Medical Research (DMR) has the capacity to produce 5 million doses annually for infants and approval from Myanmar FDA was obtained in 2007. [63] Extended program of hepatitis B vaccination at birth and other successful hepatitis B vaccination strategies will provide to dramatic reduction of hepatitis B transmission and maintain the control of chronic liver diseases related to hepatitis B viral infection in Myanmar. [64]

2.3.2.2 Prevention of mother to child transmission of HBV infection through vaccination

Most of the global burden of chronic hepatitis B (CHB) can be attributed to mother-to-child transmission at the time of or shortly after birth, and such perinatal infections lead to a high rate of chronicity. Because in endemic areas, the major infection route comes from maternal transmission, and the outcome of perinatal transmission results in a very high rate (90%) of chronic infection.

All pregnant women should be tested for HBsAg during a prenatal visit in the first trimester of their pregnancy and all HBsAg negative pregnant women should be vaccinated. Vaccination against HBV is both safe and efficacious during pregnancy. ^[65] In addition, titers of the passively transferred maternal antibody to newborns wane over time, as would be expected without the addition of active vaccination. ^[66] An accelerated vaccination schedule has been shown to be feasible and efficacious in high-risk pregnant women. ^[67]

WHO position papers on immunization recommend that all infants born to women whose HBsAg status is positive should receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as

possible after birth, preferably within 12 hours and that HBIG, which contains high levels of purified HBsAg-specific antibodies from plasma donors, is given simultaneously at different sites intramuscularly. The birth vaccine dose should be followed by 3 or 4 doses of hepatitis B vaccine to complete the primary series in order to achieve maximum efficacy (according to EPI policies). The dose of HBIG is 0.5mL (100 IU) and the dosage of HBV vaccine for newborn is 10 µg regardless of the birth weight.

In the clinical setting where HBV vaccine alone is used for the prevention of mother to-infant transmission without the NAs administration to the mothers and without the HBIG injection to the baby within 12 hours after delivery ^[68], exposed infants who do not receive birth dose vaccine (HepB-BD) have up to a 70% to 90% chance of HBV acquisition depending on maternal clinical factors. ^[69] Preventing MTCT from highly viraemic mothers (HBV DNA >200,000 IU/ml) requires not only birth-dose vaccination but also pre-emptive antiviral therapy for the mother.

However, in real-life situation in Myanmar, HBIG is prohibitively expensive and HBV DNA determination in the general population at large will not be feasible. Therefore, for practical purposes the administration of oral NAs particularly tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) 300 mg once a day should be administered starting from week 28 of pregnancy to 3 months after delivery and should be received routine birth dose HBV vaccine within 12 hours of birth followed by Expanded Program of Immunization policies in Myanmar.

2.3.2.3 Catch-up and Adult Vaccinations

In addition to infants, every person may be at some risk for a hepatitis B infection during their lifetime. So, other populations with a high risk of transmission (Table 1) should be targeted for catch-up vaccination as well as other preventive strategies.

Prior to vaccination, patients are recommended to first be screened for the presence of HBsAg, as the vaccination will not be effective in those already infected. Those who are determined to be HBsAg positive should undergo confirmatory test. If the positivity is confirmed, the patient should be referred for clinical evaluation and possible treatment initiation, while those who are determined to be negative will be eligible for a vaccination at month 0, month 1, month 6, (Table 4). The usual dosage for adults is 20 mcg for immunocompetent patients and may be increased to 40 mcg for people living with HIV or hemodialysis or immunocompromised patients.

The World Health Organization (WHO) recommends the hepatitis B vaccine for all newborns, children up to 18 years of age, and all adults at higher risk for infection. The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) recommends the hepatitis B vaccine for all newborns, children up to age 18, adults 19-59 years of age, and adults 60 and older who are at high-risk for infection. [50,70] HBV monovalent vaccines should be given as a 3-dose series at 0, 1, and 6 months. An alternate 4-dose schedule given at 0, 1, and 2 followed by a dose at 12 months can be used. [71] All doses of the vaccine are required in order to be fully protected against hepatitis B.

Table 4. HBV Vaccine Schedule for Myanmar

	Group	Dose 1	Dose 2	Dose 3	Dose 4
	Standard regimen	Month 0	Month 1	Month 6	
	Newborn	Within first 24 hours after birth (monovalent)	Week 8 (Pentavalent)	Week 16 (Pentavalent)	Week 24 (Pentavalent)
Timing Ch	Child/Adult	Month 0	Month 1	Month 2	Month 12
	People who inject drugs	Day 1	Day 7	Day 21	
	People living with HIV	Month 0	Month 1	Month 2	Month 12
	Hemodialysis Patients	Month 0	Month 1	Month 2	

The causes of breakthrough HBV infection in the vaccinated subjects include high maternal viral load, intrauterine infection, surface-gene mutants, genetic hypor-esponsiveness to the vaccine, and immune compromised hosts. In the era of post-HBV vaccination, even after complete immunization, vaccine failure still occurs. The leading cause of vaccine failure is the mother-to-infant transmission of HBV from highly infectious mothers. In children born to HBeAg-seropositive HBsAg carrier mothers, despite HBIG and three doses of the HBV vaccine, 9.26% still became HBsAg positive.

2.3.3 Post Exposure Prophylaxis for HBV infection

Health care personnel (HCP) are at risk of acquiring hepatitis B virus through exposure to infected blood and body fluids. Hepatitis B is a highly infectious blood-borne pathogen and

it can remain viable on environmental surfaces for at least 7 days and can be transmitted even in the absence of visible blood. [72]

The risk of occupational HBV transmission varies significantly based on the type of body fluid involved in the exposure. Higher HBV titers are found in blood than other body fluids and thus blood exposure carries the highest risk for HBV transmission. In addition to blood, cerebrospinal fluid, synovial fluid, pleural fluid, peritoneal fluid, pericardial fluid, and amniotic fluid are considered potentially infectious. [73]

If no post-exposure prophylaxis is administered for needle-stick occupational exposure to a nonimmune person is substantially higher than the risk of seroconversion to HCV or HIV (Table. 5). [73]

Table 5. Estimated risk of seroconversion with percutaneous injury with blood borne viruses

Virus	Risk of seroconversion
HIV	0.3%
Hepatitis C	2%
HBeAg negative HBsAg positive	23%-37%
HBeAg positive HBs Ag positive	37%-62%

After mucosal, non-intact skin or percutaneous exposure to blood or other body substances, the following are recommended as soon as possible:

- Wounds and skin sites should be washed with soap and water and mucous membranes (e.g., mouth, eyes) should be flushed or rinsed with water. If the exposure involves one or more eyes, the eye should be irrigated with clean water, saline, or sterile irrigating solution.
- For percutaneous injuries, do not squeeze the injury site and do not scrape or scrub the wound. Do not apply antiseptic solutions or caustic agents, such as bleach, to percutaneous or mucous membranes involved in the exposure
- Contaminated clothing should be removed and wearer should shower with soap
- Where water is not available, use of non-water cleanser or antiseptic should replace the use of soap and water for washing cuts or punctures of the skin or intact skin

Post exposure management of health care personal after percutaneous or mucosal exposure to blood or body fluids depend on their vaccination status and HBsAg status of the

source of the person (Table 5). Source should be screened for HBsAg, HIV, and HCV antibodies. If source is not infected, baseline evaluation and testing is not required. If HBV positive source, exposed person should be tested for baseline HBsAg status and their vaccination status (HBsAb level).

If source is positive and the exposed person of HBV vaccination status is unknown or unimmunized, the first dose of the HBV vaccine with complete vaccination must be given and HBIG (derived from human serum containing high levels of anti-HBs with the protective effect lasting approximately 3 to 6 months) with the dose of 0.06 ml/kg or 500 IU should be administered simultaneously at separate injection site (e.g., HBIG given in buttock muscle and vaccine given in deltoid muscle) as a combination approach for HBV post-exposure prophylaxis. [75]

Immunoprophylaxis should be administered within 24 hours of exposure. Studies are limited on the maximum interval after exposure during which post-exposure prophylaxis is effective, but the interval is unlikely to exceed 7 days for percutaneous exposures and 14 days for sexual exposures. Typically, HBIG is well tolerated and considered safe, even when used for pregnant or breastfeeding women. [73,75] Serious adverse reactions to HBIG are rare, and there is no evidence that HBIG has ever transmitted HBV or other blood-borne pathogens such as HIV and HCV.

Table 6. Post exposure management of health care personnel after occupational percutaneous or mucosal exposure to blood or body fluids [74]

Health Care Personal status	HCP testing (Anti-HBsAb)	HBIG	Vaccination
Documented responder after vaccine series		No action needed	
Documented non responder after 2 complete series		HBIG x 2, separated by 1 month	
Response unknown after	<10 mIU/mL	HBIG x 1	Initiate revaccination
complete series	≥10 mIU/mL	No action needed	
Unvaccinated/incompletely vaccinated		HBIG x 1	Initiate revaccination

2.3.4 Follow up HBsAb testing and Booster doses

Anti-HBs titers gradually decline with age in children immunized in infancy with hepatitis B vaccine, which is also seen in those who received a booster dose during childhood. Follow-up testing is recommended for those who remain at risk of infection, such as health care workers (HCWs), infants of HBsAg-positive mothers, sexual partners of persons with CHB, chronic hemodialysis patients, and immunocompromised persons, including those with HIV. They should be tested for their response to the vaccination 1-2 months after the last dose of vaccine. Furthermore, annual testing of hemodialysis patients is recommended given that immunity wanes rapidly in these individuals who are at a high risk of continued exposure to HBV.

For those who had received vaccinations in infancy, routine booster vaccination may not be required to protect against chronic HBV infection at least before 25 year of age. Booster doses are not also indicated in immunocompetent individuals if the primary vaccination series is completed, as long-term follow-up studies indicated that immune memory persists despite declining anti-HBs levels. ^[76] For individuals undergoing post vaccination serological testing, especially immunocompromised patients (such as persons on dialysis or with chronic inflammatory conditions, including HIV), a booster injection is advised when the anti-HBs titer falls below 10 mIU/mL.

The WHO also suggested that routine universal boosters are not recommended for children or adolescents. Nevertheless, it should be considered for those at high risk of HBV infection with anti-HBs < 10 mIU/mL after primary HBV vaccination. For those who are non-responders to the initial vaccination series, a second series of 0, 1, and 6-month vaccination is recommended. ^[77] For those who are immunocompromised, including those with HIV, on dialysis, or with cirrhosis, use of a double dose of vaccine has been shown to increase the percentage of patients achieving protective antibody titers, the level of anti-HBs achieved, and/or the duration of protection. ^[78-80]

Recommendations (Prevention)

- 18. Prevention of HBV infection by immunization is the best way to eliminate HBV-related diseases.
- 19. All unvaccinated persons especially in high risk of transmission (Table 1) should be targeted for catch-up vaccination as well as other preventive strategies.
- 20. All HBsAg-negative screened persons including adults 60 and older who are at high-risk for infection should be vaccinated.
- 21. All pregnant women should be tested for HBsAg during a prenatal visit in the first trimester of their pregnancy and all HBsAg negative pregnant women should be vaccinated.
- 22. Vaccination against HBV is both safe and efficacious during pregnancy.
- 23. HBV monovalent vaccines should be given as a 3-dose series at 0, 1, and 6 months or an alternate 4-dose schedule at 0, 1, 2 and 12 months and as require as Table (4). All doses of the vaccine are required in order to be fully protected against hepatitis B.
- 24. Birth dose HBV monovalent vaccine within 24 hours is recommended for all infants followed by subsequent 3–4 doses of HBV pentavalent vaccine according to Expanded Program of Immunization policies in Myanmar.
- 25. The 10 ug dose (0.5 ml) is recommended for use in infants (regardless of the birth weight) and children up to 18 years of age.
- 26. The 20 ug dose (1 ml) is recommended for use in more than 18 years of age and should be increased to 40 mcg for people living with HIV or hemodialysis or immunocompromised patients including those with cirrhosis of liver.
- 27. All infants of HBsAg positive mothers is recommended to receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 12 hours and Hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) should be given simultaneously at different sites intramuscularly if available. The dose of HBIG is 0.5 mL (100 IU) and the dosage of HBV vaccine for newborn is 10 μ g regardless of the birth weight.

Recommendations (Prevention)

- 28. The birth dose vaccine must be followed by 3 or 4 doses of hepatitis B vaccine to complete the primary series in order to achieve maximum efficacy (according to Expanded Program of Immunization policies) for prevention of mother to child transmission (MTCT).
- 29. HBsAb (quantitative) is not routinely recommended to test after HBV vaccination. But health care workers, sexual partners of persons with chronic HBV infection, chronic hemodialysis patients, and immunocompromised persons (including those with HIV) should be tested for their response to the vaccination 1-2 months after the last dose of vaccine.
- 30. Furthermore, annual testing of chronic hemodialysis patients in vaccine responders is recommended given that immunity wanes rapidly in these individuals who are at a high risk of continued exposure to HBV.
- 31. For non-responders to the initial vaccine series, a repeat 3-dose vaccination series at 0, 1, and 6 months is recommended.
- 32. Booster doses or revaccination are not recommended in immunocompetent individuals if the primary vaccination series is completed except if anti-HBs remains <10 mIU/mL after initial vaccination of infants born to HBsAg-positive mothers, in health care workers, hemodialysis patients and other individuals who are immunocompromised.
- 33. HBV vaccination with or without HBIG (0.06 ml/kg or 500 IU) within 24 hours of exposure is recommended for post-exposure immunoprophylaxis of unimmunized individuals who have percutaneous, mucosal, or sexual exposure to HBsAg-positive sources.

3. Definitions and Phases of Chronic Hepatitis B Infection

The diagnostic criteria for Chronic Hepatitis B Infection (CHB) and clinical terms relating to HBV infection are summarized in (Table 7). [81] The presence of HBsAg for at least 6 months establishes the chronicity of infection. The natural history of chronic HBV is complex and progresses non-linearly through five phases. The phases are HBeAg positive chronic infection (formerly 'Immune Tolerant'), HBeAg positive chronic hepatitis (formerly 'Immune Active'), HBeAg negative chronic infection (formerly 'Immune Control' or 'Inactive Carrier') and HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis (formerly 'Reactivation' or 'Immune Escape') and HBsAg negative (Occult HBV) chronic infection. Occult HBV chronic infection is characterized by serum negative HBsAg and positive antibodies to HBcAg (anti-HBc), with or without detectable antibodies to HBsAg (anti-HBs). Patients in this phase have normal ALT values and usually, but not always, undetectable serum HBV DNA. HBV DNA (cccDNA) can be detected frequently in the liver. [81]

The phases of chronic HBV infection are not necessarily sequential and includes the following phases.

Table 7. Phases of Chronic Hepatitis B Infection

	HBeAg positive		HBeAg Negative		
	Chronic infection	Chronic hepatitis	Chronic infection	Chronic hepatitis	
HBsAg	High	High/intermediate	Low	Intermediate	
HBeAg	Positive	Positive	Negative	Negative	
HBV DNA	>10 ⁷ IU/ml	10 ⁴ -10 ⁷ IU/ml	<2,000 IU/ml	>2,000 IU/ml	
ALT	Normal	Elevated	Normal	Elevated	
Liver disease	None/minimal	Moderate/severe	None	Moderate/severe	
Old terminology	Immune tolerant	Immune reactive HBeAg positive	Inactive carrier	HBeAg negative chronic hepatitis	

3.1. HBeAg-positive Chronic HBV Infection

Immune tolerant phase is characterized by the presence of serum HBeAg, very high levels of HBV DNA and ALT persistently within the normal range according to traditional cut-off values [upper limit of normal (ULN) approximately 40 IU/L]. [81] In the liver, there is minimal or no liver necro-inflammation or fibrosis but a high level of HBV DNA integration and clonal hepatocyte expansion suggesting that hepatocarcinogenesis could be already

underway in this early phase of the infection. ^[81,82] This phase is more frequent and prolonged in subjects infected perinatally and associated with preserved HBV specific T cell function at least until young adulthood. ^[83] The rate of spontaneous HBeAg loss is very low in this phase. These patients are highly contagious due to the high levels of HBV DNA.

3.2. HBeAg-positive Chronic Hepatitis B

It is characterized by the presence of serum HBeAg, high levels of HBV DNA and elevated ALT. In the liver, there is moderate or severe liver necro-inflammation and accelerated progression of fibrosis. ^[81] It may occur after several years of the first phase and is more frequently and/or rapidly reached in subjects infected during adulthood. The outcome of this phase is variable. Most patients can achieve HBeAg seroconversion and HBV DNA suppression and enter the HBeAg-negative infection phase. Other patients may fail to control HBV and progress to the HBeAg-negative CHB phase for many years.

3.3. HBeAg-negative Chronic HBV infection

Inactive carrier phase is characterized by the presence of serum antibodies to HBeAg (anti-HBe), undetectable or low (<2,000 IU/ml) HBV DNA levels and normal ALT. Some patients in this phase, however, may have HBV DNA levels >2,000 IU/ml (usually <20,000 IU/ml) accompanied by persistently normal ALT and only minimal hepatic necroinflammatory activity and low fibrosis. These patients have low risk of progression to cirrhosis or HCC if they remain in this phase, but progression to CHB, usually in HBeAg-negative patients, may occur. [81] HBsAg loss and/or seroconversion may occur spontaneously in 1–3% of cases per year. [81] Typically, such patients may have low levels of serum HBsAg (<1,000 IU/ml). [84]

3.4. HBeAg-negative Chronic Hepatitis B

It is characterized by the lack of serum HBeAg usually with detectable anti-HBe, and persistent or fluctuating moderate to high levels of serum HBV DNA (often lower than in HBeAg-positive patients), as well as fluctuating or persistently elevated ALT values. The liver histology shows necro-inflammation and fibrosis. Most of these subjects harbor HBV variants in the precore and/or the basal core promoter regions that impair or abolish HBeAg expression. This phase is associated with low rates of spontaneous disease remission. [81]

3.5. HBsAg-negative phase

Occult HBV infection is characterized by serum negative HBsAg and positive antibodies to HBcAg (anti-HBc), with or without detectable antibodies to HBsAg (anti-HBs). This phase is also known as "occult HBV infection". In rare cases, the absence of HBsAg could be related to the sensitivity of the assay used for detection. [85] Patients in this phase have normal ALT values and usually, but not always, undetectable serum HBV DNA. HBV DNA (cccDNA) can be detected frequently in the liver. [81] HBsAg loss before the onset of cirrhosis is associated with a minimal risk of cirrhosis, decompensation and HCC, and an improvement on survival. However, if cirrhosis has developed before HBsAg loss, patients remain at risk of HCC therefore HCC surveillance should continue. Immunosuppression may lead to HBV reactivation in these patients. [81]

4. Selected Diagnostic Tests Used in Management of Chronic Hepatitis B

The initial evaluation of a subject with chronic HBV infection should include a complete history, a physical examination, assessment of liver disease activity and severity and markers of HBV infection. The assessment of the severity of liver disease is important to identify patients for treatment and HCC surveillance. It is based on a physical examination and biochemical parameters (aspartate aminotransferase [AST] and ALT, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase [GGT], alkaline phosphatase, bilirubin, and serum albumin and gamma globulins, full blood count and prothrombin time, Alphafetoprotein (AFP). An abdominal hepatic ultrasound is recommended in all patients. A liver biopsy or a non-invasive test should be performed to determine disease activity in cases where biochemical and HBV markers reveal inconclusive results. [86]

Non-invasive methods, which include liver stiffness measurements and serum biomarkers of liver fibrosis, the use of transient elastography has been mostly studied and seems to offer a higher diagnostic accuracy for the detection of cirrhosis. The diagnostic accuracy of all non-invasive methods is better at excluding than confirming advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis. [86,87]

4.1 HBV serological markers

HBV serological markers include HBsAg, anti-HBs, HBeAg, anti-HBe, anti-HBc, and anti-HBc immunoglobulin M (IgM). Serological markers of hepatitis B infection and their interpretation are illustrated in (Table 8).

Table 8. Seromarkers of hepatitis B Infection

HBsAg	Total anti- HBc	Anti- HBc IgM	Anti-HBs	HBV DNA	Interpretation	
-	-	-	-	-	Never infected	
+	-	-	-	-	Transient (up to 18 days) after vaccination	
+	-	-	-	+	Early acute infection	
+	+	+	-	+	Acute infection	
-	+	+	+ /-	+/-	Acute resolving infection	
-	+	-	+	-	Recovered from past infection and immune	
+	+	-	-	+	Chronic infection	
-	+	-	-	+/-	False-positive (i.e., susceptible); past infection; "low-level" chronic infection; or passive transfer of anti-HBc to infant born to HBsAg- positive mother	
-	-	-	+	-	Immune if anti-HBs concentration is ≥10mlU/ml after vaccine series completion; passive transfer after hepatitis B immune globulin administration	

Abbreviations: - = negative; + = positive; anti-HBc = antibody to hepatitis B core antigen; anti-HBs = antibody to hepatitis B surface antigen; HBsAg = hepatitis B surface antigen; HBV DNA = hepatitis B virus deoxyribonucleic acid; IgM = immunoglobulin class M.

4.2 HBV-DNA quantitation

Quantification of serum HBV DNA is a crucial component in the evaluation of patients with CHB and in the assessment of the efficacy of antiviral treatment. Most HBV-DNA assays used in clinical practice utilize real-time polymerase chain reaction technology with a sensitivity of 5-10 IU/mL and a dynamic range up to 7 log10 IU/mL. [88]

4.3 HBV genotypes

Ten genotypes of HBV have been identified labeled A through J. ^[89,90] The HBV genotypes have distinct geographic distribution: genotype A has a universal distribution, being the predominant genotype in Europe, North and Central America, sub-Saharan Africa, and India. Genotypes B and C are predominant in Southeast Asia, China, Japan, and Australia. Genotype D is mainly found in the Middle East and the Mediterranean countries. Genotype E seems to be predominant in West Africa, whereas genotype G is distributed throughout the

USA, Mexico, and France. Genotype F is mainly found in Central and South America and Alaska. Finally, genotype H is unique to Central America and the USA. [91-93] In Myanmar, genotype C is most prevalent, with one study estimating 77% of HBV-infected patients in Yangon to have genotype C infection.

HBV genotypes may play an important role in the progression of HBV-related liver disease as well as response to interferon (IFN) therapy. [89,94] Genotype A (vs. B-D) is associated with significantly higher rates of HBeAg and HBsAg loss with IFN therapy. [84,85] Studies from Asia found that HBV genotype B is associated with HBeAg seroconversion at an earlier age, more sustained remission after HBeAg seroconversion, less active hepatic necroinflammation, a slower rate of progression to cirrhosis, and a lower rate of HCC development compared with genotype C. [95] a significantly higher incidence of HCC has been reported in persons infected with genotypes C or F in Alaska compared with the others. [96]

4.3.1 Detection of drug-resistant mutations

The emergence of antiviral resistance has a close association with NA amino acid substitutions in the reverse transcriptase (RT region of the HBV genome), which are classified as primary and secondary self-compensatory resistance mutations. ^[97,98] The NA therapy can induce certain resistance mutations, and it is noticed that natural HBV RT mutations exist even in treatment-naïve patients. ^[99,100] HBV mutations may occur naturally in chronically infected subjects and may also be induced by antiviral therapy. Both lead to decreased sensitivity to antiviral drugs.

Resistance mutations are common in patients receiving Lamivudine (LAM), adefovir dipivoxil (ADV), telbivudine (LdT) but entecavir (ETV), tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) and tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) have high genetic barrier to resistance. Primary mutations are directly responsible for drug resistance, whereas compensatory (or secondary) mutations improve viral replication fitness. [101,102] The more primary mutations required for antiviral drug resistance, the higher the genetic barrier an NA antiviral has. A single primary mutation is necessary for HBV resistance to LAM, LdT and ADV, [103] whereas three mutations, including rtL180M, rtM204V/I, and any mutation at rtI169, rtT184, rtS202 or rtM250, are required for HBV resistance to ETV. [104,105] The rate of ETV resistance is 1.2% in NA-naïve patients and it increases up to 51% after 5 years of ETV treatment in patients with LAM-resistant HBV. [106,107] TDF resistance was not found in patients with long-term TDF treatment for up to 10 years. [108]

4.4. Quantitative HBsAg (q HBsAg Assay)

The desire to assess covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) inside hepatocytes led to development of reproducible, automated, and standardized (IU/mL) assays (Architect QT assay [Abbott], Elecsys HBsAg III Quant [Roche], Liaison XL [DiaSorin]) to quantify HBsAg. [109] Although quantitative HBsAg (qHBsAg) reflects cccDNA and intrahepatic DNA levels, it also measures HBsAg that arises from integrated DNA, thereby reducing its specificity as a biomarker for viral replication. qHBsAg levels vary by genotype (higher in A) and by presence of preS/S mutants or host immune control (inverse correlation with both). [109]

The levels of HBsAg are generally higher in HBeAg-positive patients than HBeAg-negative patients. ^[109,110] HBsAg level can assist the differentiation of immune tolerance and immune clearance in hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg)-positive patients, and it can predict inactive disease and spontaneous HBsAg seroclearance in HBeAg-negative patients. In HBeAg-negative patients, low qHBsAg (<1,000 IU/mL) and low HBV DNA (<2,000 IU/mL) suggest inactive CHB. ^[111] qHBsAg<1,000 IU/mL predicts spontaneous HBsAg clearance in HBeAg-negative patients with a low viral load. Therefore, it can be used for selection of candidates to withdraw from therapy in combination with HBVDNA. It can also be useful in managing patients receiving Peg-IFN therapy.

Moreover, higher qHBsAg levels have been associated with progression to cirrhosis and HCC. ^[112] The REVEAL study, based on prospective observation of a predominantly untreated HBeAg-negative Asian cohort, demonstrated that lower HBsAg levels were associated with reduced HCC risk suggesting there may be a benefit to lowering HBsAg levels. ^[113] Those with an HBsAg level >100 - <1000 IU/mL and ≥1000 IU/ mL at entry into the study had 3.2- and 5.44-fold greater risks, respectively, of developing HCC, and 1.96- and 3.5-fold greater risks of developing cirrhosis compared with patients with an HBsAg level <100 IU/mL Also, among HBeAg negative patients with low HBV DNA (<2000 IU/mL), high HBsAg levels >1000 IU/mL were shown to be associated with a 13.7-fold increased risk of developing HCC compared to those with HBsAg levels <1000 IU/mL ^[114] A sustained reduction in HBsAg to low levels is, thus, a potentially clinically meaningful therapeutic endpoint.

Pre-operative HBsAg level is an important predictor of long-term recurrence and survival in patients with HBV-related HCC undergoing surgical resection. A preoperative HBsAg level of 1000 IU/mL or greater is an independent risk factor for HCC recurrence in patients with low HBV DNA levels. HBsAg level >200 IU/mL is also an independent predictor

for late recurrence (2 - 5 years post- resection), HBsAg levels >50 IU/mL could predict recurrence and mortality beyond 5 years. This suggests that different cut- off values of HBsAg may be useful to predict outcomes at different intervals after surgical resection. [116]

Long term HBsAg titre kinetics in patients receiving high-potency NAs (entecavir or tenofovir) can predict functional cure and low HBsAg levels. HBsAg levels markedly reduced in the first treatment year, followed by a second stepwise decrease between the 6th and 7th years. These patterns were more distinctly observed in HBeAg-positive patients with chronic hepatitis compared to liver cirrhosis and HBeAg-negative patients. Tenofovir showed a swifter decrease in HBs Ag level in the first year of treatment than entecavir. The baseline HBsAg of ≤3 log IU/mL and first-year reduction in HBsAg emerged as critical predictors for both functional cure and low HBsAg levels. [117]

4.5 Non-invasive diagnosis of liver fibrosis

4.5.1 Serological markers

Serological markers of liver fibrosis (e.g., AST to platelet ratio index [APRI] and the Fibrosis 4 score [FIB-4]) have been developed to assess significant/advanced fibrosis and cirrhosis. They have the advantages of simplicity and practicality; however, their dynamic changes cannot accurately reflect the reversal of liver fibrosis and clinical outcomes in patients with CHB receiving antiviral therapy. [118,119]

APRI and FIB-4 calculations

APRI = * ((AST/ULN) I 100)/platelet count (109/L)

FIB-4 = (age (years) Í AST (IU/L)) / (platelet count (109/L Í [ALT (IU/L)1/2])

ULN signifies the upper limit of normal for AST in the laboratory where these investigations were undertaken.

For APRI, an online calculator can be accessed at https://www.hepatitisc.uw.edu/page/clinical-calculators/apri.

For FIB4, an online calculator can be accessed at http://www.hepatitisc.uw.edu/page/clinical-calculators/fib-4.

AST - Aspartate aminotransferase, IU- International Unit

ULN- Upper Limit of Normal of the Lab (often 40 IU/ml)

4.5.2 Liver stiffness measurements (LSMs)

LSMs include transient elastography (TE), ultrasound-based point shear wave elastography (p-SWE), 2D shear wave elastography (2D-SWE), and magnetic resonance elastography (MRE). Transient elastography (FibroScan®) may be a preferable non-invasive test in settings where it is available. TE is widely used to accurately diagnose advanced liver fibrosis and early liver cirrhosis. [120] However, more clinical studies are warranted to determine whether the dynamic changes in TE reflect fibrosis reversal and clinical outcomes. [121-123]

Evidence of significant fibrosis (≥F2) should be based on an APRI score of >0.5 or transient elastography value of >7.0 kPa, and cirrhosis (F4) should be based on clinical criteria (or) an APRI score of >1.0 or transient elastography (FibroScan) value of >12.5 kPa). [124]

Table.9 Cut-off values for detecting significant fibrosis (≥F2) and cirrhosis (F4)

	APRI (low cut-off)	APRI (high cut-off)	Transient elastography (FibroScan)
Significant fibrosis (METAVIR ≥F2)	0.5	1.5	>7 kPa
Cirrhosis	1.0	2.0	>12.5 kPa

4.6 Imaging diagnosis

Imaging examinations include abdominal ultrasonography, computed tomography (CT), and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). The main purposes of imaging examinations are to monitor the clinical progression of chronic HBV infection, to determine whether liver cirrhosis and portal hypertension exist, [125,126] to locate space-occupying lesions and identify their characteristics, and to monitor and diagnose HCC in a timely manner. [127,128]

4.7 Liver biopsy

Liver biopsy is typically used to assess the degree of liver necro-inflammation and fibrosis in patients with chronic HBV infection and to rule out other liver diseases, providing evidence for diagnosis, predicting prognosis, initiating antiviral therapy, and monitoring antiviral therapy efficacy. The refined METAVIR and Ishak scoring systems, which are based on the Knodell and Scheuer scoring systems, are internationally recommended for grading hepatic necro-inflammation and the staging of liver fibrosis in patients with CHB. [129-131] METAVIR \geq F2 indicates significant liver fibrosis, and \geq F3 indicates advanced liver fibrosis. Currently in Myanmar, Liver biopsy is not recommended.

Recommendations (Definitions and Phases of Chronic Hepatitis B Infection)

- 34. Quantitative HBV-DNA testing is useful for treatment decisions, including initiation of treatment and evaluation of a patient's response to antiviral treatment.
- 35. HBsAg quantitation is not recommended for the routine testing or follow-up of patients with CHB. But it can be useful in predicting outcome of patients receiving NA (functional cure) and for selection of candidates to withdraw from therapy in combination with HBV DNA. It should be checked every 6-12 months.
- 36. HBV genotyping can be useful in patients being considered for peg-IFN therapy, given that genotypes A and B are associated with higher rates of HBeAg and/or HBsAg loss than genotype C and D, but it is not recommended for routine testing or follow-up of patients with CHB because of genotype C is most prevalent genotype in Myanmar.
- 37. Testing for viral resistance is not usually done as we are using antiviral with high genetic barrier to resistant. It can be useful in patients with persistent viremia on NA therapy, or those who experience virological breakthrough during treatment.

5. Screening for HCC

HCC surveillance should be performed at semiannual (approximately every 6 months) intervals using ultrasound and AFP. This recommendation was initially based on HCC tumor doubling time. [132]

HCC surveillance is considered cost-effective if the annual risk of HCC is >0.2% per year. ^[133] In CHB patients without cirrhosis, the incidence of HCC is increased compared to the general population and varies with geographical region: ranging from less than 0.2% per year in Europeans to 0.4-0.6% per year in Asians. ^[134] Presence of cirrhosis further increases HCC risk by over 10-fold. One-third of CHB patients with cirrhosis develop HCC in their lifetime. Among people with cirrhosis, the annual incidence of HCC is 2–3% in western countries and 6–11% in Asian populations. ^[135,136] At each stage of chronic hepatitis, a positive family history (in first-degree relatives) increases HCC risk. ^[137] Coexisting obesity, diabetes and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) ^[138], together with alcohol and cigarette smoking ^[139], are additive risk factors for HCC development.

Recommendations (Screening for HCC)

- 38. HCC surveillance should be performed using ultrasound and AFP at semiannual (approximately every 6 months) intervals in patients with compensated cirrhosis of liver, and in patients with CHB who have additional risk factors.
- 39. In patients with decompensated cirrhosis of liver, surveillance should be carried out every 3-4 months.

6. Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B

6.1 Goal of therapy

A major goal of CHB antiviral treatment is to prevent disease progression, HCC, and liver related mortality. Without a cure for CHB infection, an essential intermediate endpoint toward these goals is the long-term suppression of HBV replication, alleviate liver necroinflammation and fibrosis, delay and reduce the progression of liver diseases, hepatic decompensation, HCC, and transmission to others, particularly mother-to-child transmission in pregnancy which is achievable by current antiviral treatment. [140-142]

6.2 Whom to treat

Currently, the decision to treat criteria established by international liver societies including AASLD, EASL & APASL are complex and complicated and usually based on a combined assessment of the liver fibrosis stage by liver biopsy or transient elastography, serum HBV DNA and ALT levels. [140-142] Moreover, there is no global consensus definition of normal ALT levels as well as HBV DNA cut-off among the international treatment recommendations. Based on these clinical practice guidelines, treatment initiation is typically recommended for patients with cirrhosis, for who have elevated detectable HBV DNA level, or those with active chronic hepatitis B exhibiting elevated levels of ALT. [140-142]

Unfortunately, these guidelines assume that elevated ALT levels indicate liver necroinflammation and consistently undetectable HBV DNA levels signifies viral inactivity. Additionally, replacing liver biopsy with liver stiffness measurement is inaccurate in estimating gray zone fibrosis. As a result, numerous individuals with chronic hepatitis B infection remain untreated according to guideline recommendation, leaving them vulnerable to the progression of liver disease, HCC and potential transmission of infection to others.

Emerging data highlights the need for early diagnosis and treatment of HBV. Patients with untreated compensated cirrhosis who have undetectable HBV DNA levels and do not meet the current criteria for treatment had higher rates of HCC compared to patients with compensated cirrhosis and suppressed HBV DNA by antiviral therapy. [143] A multinational study conducted across 14 sites in the USA, Europe, and Asia demonstrated that antiviral therapy reduced the risk of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) by 70% among treatment naïve patients with chronic hepatitis B who do not have advanced fibrosis and do not meet the current criteria for antiviral therapy. [144] An analysis of Korean cohort with treatment naïve chronic hepatitis B showed that proportion of patients who developed HCC outside treatment guideline recommendation according to APASL, AASLD and EASL ware 64%, 46% and 33.5% respectively. [145] Many patients who do not currently meet the criteria for antiviral treatment according to current guidelines remain at risk of adverse clinical events, particularly HCC.

The World Health Organization (WHO) endorsed the strategy to eliminate viral hepatitis as a public threat by 2023, targeted to 90% reduction in incidence and a 65% reduction in mortality of viral hepatitis B and C. [146] Currently, no country is on track to achieve the WHO's HBV mortality target for 2023. [147] To reach these target, the global health sector strategies concentrating on key areas such as disease burden, prevention coverage, harm reduction, blood safety, testing and treatment for hepatitis. Enhancing access to care, simplifying guidelines, and achieving a cure of HBV infection are all equally crucial step to find the missing millions living with hepatitis B. Broadening efforts for testing, vaccination, and treatment to meet hepatitis elimination goals greatly depends on decentralized care and primary healthcare providers. The global movement towards decentralization has initiated shifts, particularly evident in hepatitis C care, resulting in enhanced screening rates and improved access to care and treatment. [148] Expanding the allocation of task to primary care providers and frontline healthcare workers is equally vital for the successful elimination of HBV as a public health threat and ensuring equitable access to life saving care for patient with chronic hepatitis B.

However, current guidelines are often confusing and ambiguous, results in only a minority of the chronic hepatitis B patients being offered treatment. Nonetheless, across all the regions, only 13% of people living with chronic hepatitis B infection had been diagnosed and

approximately 3% (7 million) treated with antiviral therapy at the end of 2022 [146] due to the complexity and restrictiveness of clinical practice guidelines.

In 2016, the World Health Organization (WHO) recommended that all individuals living with HIV, regardless of clinical status or CD4 cell count, should provide with lifelong antiretroviral therapy. [149] Since then, a newer approach called the "Treat All" strategy, proposes treating all individuals diagnosed with chronic HBV infection without requiring assessment of HBV DNA level, ALT level, or fibrosis stage. [150-154] Similar to a "Treat all" approach for HIV or hepatitis C infection, the "Treat all" strategy for HBV infection could enable the initiation of antiviral treatment on the same days as a positive HBsAg screening test, eliminating the need for costly and complex clinical staging process. [152] Furthermore, implementing the "Treat all" approach or providing universal HBV treatment to all HBsAgpositive individuals can ensure sustained viral suppression, thereby preventing both the horizontal transmission and the progression of liver disease, even in the absence of a cure.

Recently, the Chinese Hepatology and Infectious Disease Societies have adopted an expanded treatment strategy. ^[155] In their guidelines, HBV treatment is recommended in all HBsAg-positive patients with detectable HBV DNA level (i.e., HBV DNA > 10-20 IU/mL) over the age of 30 years, regardless of ALT level. Under this strategy, 92% (75 million) of HBV infected patients in China are now considered eligible for treatment. Antiviral treatment is also recommended for HBV DNA detected individual younger than 30 years of age with persistently elevated ALT (i.e., > upper limit of normal), those with compensated cirrhosis, and those with risk of disease progression (≥ grade 2 inflammation or ≥ stage 2 fibrosis, family history of HBV-related cirrhosis or HCC, or HBV-related extrahepatic manifestation).

There are several other expanded treatment strategies proposed throughout the world including an East Asia expert opinion ^[156], a U.S treatment algorithm ^[157], a test-and-treat all HBsAg-positive patients' strategy, and expert recommendation for the simplification of current guidelines ^[158]. Both the recommendations from East Asia expert opinion and the U.S. treatment algorithm suggest initiating antiviral treatment for more CHB patients at risk of HCC and adverse liver outcomes than in current AASLD, APASL and EASL treatment guidelines.

In 2024, the World Health Organization (WHO) updated the guidelines expand eligibility for the treatment of hepatitis B, with four options for meeting treatment eligibility that apply to all adults with chronic hepatitis B. [159] Only one of the four options requires access to HBV DNA testing, which has been considered a major barrier to accessing treatment.

Overall, these four options mean that a much higher proportion (at least 50%) of all HBsAg positive people, depending on the region, will now be eligible for treatment compared with about 8−20% previously. The first option is to treat all individuals with significant fibrosis (≥F2) based on revised thresholds of non-invasive tests for staging of liver disease (APRI score >0.5 or transient elastography [if available] >7 kPa), or cirrhosis based on clinical criteria (or an APRI score >1.0 or transient elastography >12.5 kPa), regardless of HBV DNA or alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels. The second option is to treat if HBV DNA is over 2,000 IU/mL (previously >20,000 IU/mL) and ALT is above the upper limit of normal. The third option is to treat if there is the presence of any of the following: co-infections (e.g., HIV, HDV, or hepatitis C); a family history of liver cancer or cirrhosis; immune suppression (e.g., long-term steroid use, solid organ or stem-cell transplant); co-morbidities (e.g., diabetes or metabolic dysfunction-associated steatotic liver disease); or extrahepatic manifestations (e.g., glomerulonephritis or vasculitis), regardless of HBV DNA or ALT levels. The fourth option is a conditional recommendation, in settings where there is no access to HBV DNA testing, to treat on the basis of persistently abnormal ALT levels alone. [159,160]

However, these guidelines continue to insist on evaluating HBV DNA and ALT level, as well as fibrosis assessment prior to treatment decision-making. Moreover, periodic assessment for treatment eligibility based on HBeAg, HBV DNA level, and ALT remains challenging in low-income and middle-income countries (LMICs). In contrast, the "test-andtreat-all" strategy, where all HBsAg-positive would be eligible for antiviral treatment, does not require HBV DNA testing and could reduce the diagnosis costs. However, implementing "Treat all" approach would necessitate mass screening to identify all HBsAg-positive patients, which carries significant implication for national public health policies. Furthermore, the acceptability of the "Treat all" approach is also debatable, as it mandates lifelong antiviral therapy even for individual who may not develop chronic liver disease. Despite the generally good tolerance of antiviral therapy like Tenofovir, adherence might be suboptimal. [161] Additionally, treatment interruptions carry a 1–2% risk of severe hepatic flare with liver decompensation. [162] Furthermore, the burden of treatment, including daily medication intake that might interfere with daily activities or lifestyle, cannot be overlooked. [163] Moreover, feasibility and acceptability of the "Treat all" approach have not been tested in a real-world setting.

However, a recent large-scale study conducted in Uzbekistan demonstrated the feasibility of a decentralized testing and simplified diagnostic algorithm and treatment of

uncomplicated cases by general practitioners in low-and middle-income countries (LMICs). ^[164] A test-and-treat-all protocol for HBV elimination has been successfully implemented in a national program in Uzbekistan; the first country to adopt a test and treat all guideline for HBV. ^[164]

Recent prospective studies favor early antiviral therapy that potential impact on hepatocarcinogenesis and clinical HBV parameters. These data support the early initiation of antiviral treatment to delay or even reverse chronic hepatitis B related disease progression and as a preventive strategy to reduce HBV related mortality.

During early phase of HBV infection, the immune system becomes activated as a natural defense mechanism, and this response is beneficial in in acute infection. However, persistent immune activation from chronic HBV infection initiates a series of molecular events ^[165] including carcinogenesis driven via HBV DNA integration, which occurs prior to observable histological liver damage, chromosomal instability, insertional mutagenesis, and the expression of mutant HBV genes or host oncogenes. ^[165-169] Higher level of integration have been observed among hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg)- positive compared with HBeAg – negative patients ^[170], and among the HBeAg-negative patients, the highest number of integration has been reported among those with HBV DNA >20,000 IU/mL. ^[171] Antiviral treatment has been shown to reduce the number of transcriptional active integration in patients with HBV infection. ^[169,172,173]

Early initiation HBV therapy also has potential impact on various clinical parameter of HBV patients. A meta-analysis that includes two studies of immune tolerant patients found moderate-quality evidence for improved intermediate outcome (viral suppression, HBeAg seroconversion/loss) with antiviral therapy. [174] Analysis of 181 treatment naïve immune-tolerant patients, revealed that 33% of patients had evident histological liver injury (EHLI) at baseline. After 72 weeks of entecavir treatment, histological improvement and fibrosis reversal were observed in 82% and 78% of patients with evident histological liver injury (EHLI), respectively. Additionally, 73% of patients no longer having EHLI at the treatment period. [175]

A unique group of HBV patients, often co-infected with human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), typically receive early antiviral treatment irrespective of HBV DNA or ALT levels. Many antiretroviral regimens include a nucleoside/tide analogs (NAs) like Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF) or Tenofovir Alafenamide (TAF). [140-142] Among 3625 patients co-infected with HBV and HIV, the occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) remained

stable in those receiving nucleoside/tide analog (NA) treatment. However, there was a notable increase in HCC incidence among patients not undergoing NA-based treatment regimens. ^[176] Findings from a study involving antiviral-treated HBV mono-infected (n = 53,974) and HBV/HIV co-infected (n = 822) patients revealed a reduced incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) among HBV/HIV co-infected individuals compared to HBV mono-infected patients. ^[177] Similarly, data from a US administrative claim analysis showed a decrease in the occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma among HBV/HIV co-infected patients (n = 7764) compared to HBV mono-infected patients (n = 13,964). ^[178] The presence of HIV co-infection, which typically correlates with early HBV antiviral therapy, suggests that implementing universal antiviral treatment for chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients might reduce the likelihood of developing hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

Indeed, there is valid concern regarding the potential safety implication of expanding the initiation of long-term antiviral treatment. Based on accumulating clinical experience, there is a minimal risk of side effect associated with current antiviral treatment option. Rare but potentially severe adverse events include lactic acidosis, osteoporosis and renal failure. [141] However, recent studies have demonstrated that the bone and renal effects of tenofovir are less common with Tenofovir Alafenamide (TAF) than with Tenofovir Disoproxil Fumarate (TDF). [140] This consideration must be balanced against the risk of disease progression and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) in untreated chronic hepatitis B patients. Another potential concern related to long-term antiviral treatment is the development of resistance and poor adherence. However, drug like ETV, TDF and TAF have a high barrier to resistance; no resistance to TDF or TAF has been detected, and resistance to ETV is rare among treatment naïve patients. [140,141] Moreover, adherence rates to nucleoside/tide (NA) therapies are generally very high, reaching up to 75%. [179]

The main reason for not recommending the "Treat all" policy for hepatitis B is likely the financial strain on any national health system. However, several studies have estimated that early initiation of antiviral treatment has been shown to be cost effective. The costs associated with expanded chronic hepatitis B therapy could be balanced by the decreased expenditure required for managing the future consequences of disease progression resulting from untreated chronic hepatitis B. [180-187]

After careful assessment of risk and benefit, as well as the availability of equally effective and safe generic, low cost tenofovir or entecavir, GI and Liver Foundation (GLF) Myanmar has recommended the early initiation of antiviral therapy with the "Treat all"

strategies in all adults (> 18 years old) individual with chronic hepatitis B infection. This approach is implemented regardless of the stage and phase of liver disease, and it is tailored to meet local needs and resources.

Recommendations (Treatment of Chronic HBV infection for adult > 18 years old)

Treatment is recommended for all adult (>18 years old) with chronic hepatitis B (CHB) with one of the following criteria

- 40. HBsAg positive regardless of HBV DNA, ALT level or fibrosis stage following education on the importance of adherence to antiviral therapy.
- 41. Significant fibrosis (\geq F2) or cirrhosis (F4) regardless of HBV DNA or ALT level
 - Clinical criteria for cirrhosis
 - Non-invasive tests: APRI > 0.5 or transient elastography > 7 kPa
- 42. Detectable HBV DNA level
- 43. Persistently abnormal ALT level (Upper Limit Normal 30 U/L for men and 19 U/L for women),
- 44. Presence of any of following (regardless of fibrosis stage, HBV DNA, ALT level)
 - Coinfection (e.g. HIV, HCV)
 - Family history of liver cancer or cirrhosis
 - Immune suppression
 - Comorbidities (e.g. Diabetes, MASLD)
 - Extrahepatic manifestations (e.g. Glomerulonephritis or vasculitis)

Recommendations (first-line antiviral therapies for all adults > 18 years old)

- 45. Nucleoside analogues with a low genetic barrier to drug resistance such as lamivudine, adefovir or telbivudine can lead to drug resistance and are thus not recommended.
- 46. Nucleos(t)ide analogues that have a high genetic barrier to drug resistance such as tenofovir alafenamide (TAF), tenofovir disoproxil fumerate (TDF) or entecavir (ETV) are recommended as preferred regimens.
- 47. Tenofovir alafenamide (TAF), Entecavir is recommended as first-line therapy for people with age > 60 years, chronic steroid use or use of other medication that worsen bone density, history of fragility fracture, osteoporosis, eGFR < 60ml/min/1.73m², albuminuria > 30 gm/24 hr or moderate dipstick proteinuria, low phosphate (<2.5 mg/dl), hemodialysis.

7. Monitoring and follow-up management of patients during antiviral therapy

Regular monitoring during antiviral therapy is intended to assess the effectiveness of the treatment, ensure patient compliance, detect drug resistance, identify adverse events, and monitor for the development of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC).

Baseline tests should include the following:

- (a) **Biochemical Tests**: ALT, AST, bilirubin, albumin, and other relevant markers.
- (b) Virological and Serological Markers: HBV DNA level, HBsAg, HBeAg, and anti-HBe.
- (c) **Blood Routine Tests**: Serum creatinine and other necessary markers.
- (d) **Non-Invasive Fibrosis Detection**: Liver stiffness measurement (LSM) or other methods.

(e) Renal Function Considerations:

- For patients with creatinine clearance <50 mL/min who are being treated with ETV or TDF, dose adjustments are required.
- TAF is not recommended for patients with creatinine clearance <15 mL/min who are not on dialysis, and no dose adjustment is necessary in other cases.

7.1 Patient treatment compliance

Adherence to medication is essential to ensure that patients are aware of the potential risks associated with self-discontinuation of the drug. Promoting awareness and understanding of the importance of consistent treatment is key to improving patient compliance.

7.2 On Nucleos(t)ide Analogues

Routine blood tests, liver biochemical tests, monitoring of HBV DNA levels (optional), and HBV serum virological markers, along with liver stiffness measurements (LSMs), should be conducted every 6 months for patients without cirrhosis and every 3 months for those with cirrhosis. If needed, enhanced CT or enhanced MRI should be utilized for early detection of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Additionally, for patients on medications that may impact renal function or bone metabolism, serum phosphorus and renal function markers should be tested every 6 to 12 months.

7.3 On Peg-IFN

Routine blood tests should be performed every 1 to 2 weeks in the first month of treatment. Additionally, routine blood tests and liver biochemical markers should be detected once every month after stabilization. Furthermore, thyroid function markers, blood glucose, and HBV serum virological markers should be detected every 3 months. Finally, LSM should be performed once every 6 months.

7.4 Prevention and treatment of rare adverse events

While nucleos(t)ide analogs (NAs) are generally safe and well-tolerated, rare but serious adverse events can still occur, such as renal insufficiency (particularly with TDF and hypophosphatemic bone disease (especially with **TDF** ADV), and ADV), myositis/rhabdomyolysis, and lactic acidosis (notably with ETV). To minimize potential risks, it is essential to thoroughly review the patient's relevant medical history before starting treatment. Additionally, patients who experience significantly elevated serum creatinine, creatinine kinase, or lactate dehydrogenase levels during treatment, along with corresponding clinical symptoms, should be closely monitored. If any of these adverse events occur, the medication should be discontinued immediately.

8. Management of Chronic Hepatitis B in Special Populations

8.1 Acute Hepatitis B infection

In cases of acute hepatitis B, the primary objective of treatment is to avert the risk of acute or subacute liver failure. Another important goal is to enhance the patient's quality of life by alleviating the symptoms associated with the disease and reducing the likelihood of it becoming chronic. According to the typical progression of the illness, more than 95% of adults will experience clinical and virological recovery, including seroconversion to anti-HBs, without the need for antiviral therapy. However, a severe or fulminant form of acute hepatitis B can be potentially life-threatening. This severe manifestation is characterized by coagulopathy (with an INR greater than 1.5), a prolonged course of illness with persistent symptoms, marked jaundice for four weeks, or signs of acute liver failure. [188]

Although randomized controlled trials are lacking, several cohort studies indicate that the early antiviral therapy with highly potent NAs can prevent progression to acute liver failure and subsequently liver transplantation or mortality. [189]

Despite the lack of observed benefit, treating all patients with acute liver failure attributed to HBV using an NA may be reasonable given its safety and the ultimate need for liver transplantation in many of these patients, for whom lower HBV-DNA levels are desirable to reduce the risk of recurrent hepatitis B after transplant. [190]

Early NA treatment does not increase the risk of chronicity (4) and observational data from a multicenter cohort even indicated reduced rates of chronicity, if NA treatment was initiated within 8 weeks of acute hepatitis B presentation. [191]

Recommendations (Acute Hepatitis B infection)

- 48. Antiviral treatment with TDF or TAF or Entecavir is recommended for a severe or fulminant form of acute viral hepatitis B.
- 49. Treatment should be continued until HBsAg clearance is confirmed or indefinitely in those who undergo liver transplantation.

8.2 Management of persons with persistent low-level viremia on NA therapy

Low-level viremia (LLV) is defined as persistent or intermittent episodes of detectable HBV DNA <2000 IU/ mL after 48 weeks of antiviral treatment. ^[193] Low-level viremia (LLV) has been suggested to be a possible cause of HCC in patients receiving NA treatment. ^[194] In general, real-world studies have suggested that 20% to 40% of patients will still develop LLV, even with first-line antiviral drugs for HBV. ^[195] The risk factors include HBeAg seropositivity, presence of cirrhosis, higher HBsAg levels and HBV DNA levels before antiviral therapy. ^[196]

At present, the mechanism of LLV remains unclear. The possible one is that NA cannot completely block the synthesis of the DNA strand and there is stable existence of covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA) in the infected liver nuclei. As a result, the HBV DNA level in the serum of some patients with antiviral therapy is continuously or intermittently higher than the detection limit, as manifested as LLV. [197]

Regarding with the management, the AASLD recommendation for patients with LLV suggests that patients treated with ETV or TDF/TAF monotherapy should continue monotherapy, although the quality and certainty of evidence are low. [198]

EASL does not recommend changing the initial treatment strategy in patients with low HBV DNA levels (HBV DNA < 69 IU/mL) and/or declining HBV DNA concentrations on potent NA monotherapy; if the HBV DNA has plateaued (69 < DNA < 2000 IU/ mL), the possibility of switching to another drug or a combination of ETV+TDF/TAF should be considered. ^[198]

Virological breakthrough is defined by an increase in HBV DNA by >1 log compared to nadir or an HBV-DNA level of 100 IU/mL or higher in persons on NA therapy with a previously undetectable level (<10 IU/mL). ^[198] The virological breakthrough is identified in 3.6, 3.6 and 0.6 % of patients treating with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate at 12, 24 and 36 months ^[199] and 0.6 % of patients treating with entecavir for 3 years. ^[200]

The AASLD recommends two strategies for individuals experiencing virological breakthrough on entecavir or tenofovir monotherapy: either transition to another antiviral monotherapy with a high resistance barrier or augment with a second antiviral lacking cross resistance. Insufficient long-term comparative data hinders favoring one approach over another. Virological principles indicate lower viral resistance risk with combination antiviral therapy versus monotherapy. Up to a 5-year follow-up shows monotherapy, especially with antivirals like tenofovir, attains HBV DNA suppression rates akin to combination therapy. [201]

Recommendations (Persistent low-level viremia on NA therapy)

- 50. Persons with persistent low level viraemia, who has been treated with ETV or TDF or TAF mono therapy, should continue mono therapy, regardless of serum ALT.
- 51. For persons on entecavir, TDF or TAF with virological breakthrough despite good compliance, hepatology referral is recommended.

8.3 Renal and bone disease in persons on NA therapy

Entecavir and tenofovir are both approved as first-line therapeutic options for CHB. NUC-associated nephrotoxicity primarily results in proximal tubular toxicity rather than glomerular toxicity. The tubular damage leads to defective proximal tubular secretion (e.g. of creatinine) and reabsorption of several substances including phosphate, resulting in reduced serum phosphate levels (hypophosphatemia), elevated phosphate levels in the urine (phosphaturia) and elevated serum levels of creatinine. This effect, however, is not pronounced (approximately 6%) when renal function is normal but becomes more relevant when renal function is low. [202]

Regarding the impact of TDF on renal function, the degree of association between TDF treatment and changes in markers of renal function varies between studies. Possible reasons for the observed discrepancies include the use of different definitions and cut-offs for reporting renal toxicities, and differences in patient populations. ^[202]

A multicenter, matched case-control, retrospective cohort study in 103 patients treated for chronic HBV infection with TDF and 103 controls treated with ETV [matched by age (mean 44 years), gender, and baseline GFR (86.4% un-impaired), all Asian]. Over up to 40 months of treatment, there was no significant difference between TDF and ETV. [203]

The existing studies do not show significant differences in renal dysfunction, hypophosphatemia, or bone mineral density between HBV-infected persons treated with tenofovir (TDF) or entecavir. However, renal events, such as acute renal failure or hypophosphatemia, have been reported in TDF-treated persons. ^[204] Therefore, TDF can be used with negligible side effects in patients not at risk of renal dysfunction and bone disease.

Changes in renal function over time were observed, several factors were also found to show a significant association, particularly older age and preexisting renal insufficiency. [202]

In persons on TDF, renal safety monitoring with serum creatinine, phosphorus, urine glucose, and urine protein should be assessed before treatment initiation and periodically thereafter (e.g., at least annually and more frequently if the patient is at high risk for renal dysfunction or has a preexisting renal dysfunction). ^[204]TAF is a novel prodrug of tenofovir (TFV) which has shown potent inhibition of HBV replication at a low dose, with high intracellular concentration and more than 90% lower systemic TFV concentration than TDF.

Week 48 results of the phase 3 studies in patients with CHB confirmed comparable anti-viral efficacy of TAF compared with TDF. In contrast, significant differences were observed regarding the safety profile of the drugs. In the HBeAg-negative study, eGFR declined significantly in TDF- but not in TAF-treated patients. [202]

Likewise, the mean change from baseline of the T-score (DEXA scan of spine) was significantly higher in the TDF than in the TAF group (- 2.51% vs. - 0.88%, P < 0.001). Similar findings could be demonstrated also for the hip. [202]

In CHB patients with deteriorating renal function or low eGFR and/or osteopenia/osteoporosis, particularly in older age, the minimization of progression of the physiological decline into pathological abnormality should also be considered when choosing NA therapy. [205]

Table. 10 Recommended dosage for adults with renal impairment and decompensated cirrhosis and recommended dose reduction or dosing interval. [206]

Drug	CrCl (mL/min) ^a					
	>50	30–49	10–29	<10 Haemodialysis or continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis		
TDF ^{b,c}	One 300-mg tablet every 24 hours (7.5 scoops of	One 300-mg tablet every 48 hours (or 160 mg [3 scoops] of powder every 24 hours)	One 300-mg tablet every 72–96 hours (or 60 mg [1.5 scoops] of powder every 24 hours)	Every seven days or one 300-mg tablet following completion of approximately every 12 hours of dialysis (or 20 mg [0.5 scoops] of powder following completion of approximately every 12 hours of dialysis)		
ETV ^d	0.5 mg once daily	0.25 mg once daily OR 0.5 mg every 48 hours	0.15 mg once daily OR 0.5 mg every 72 hours	0.05 mg once daily OR 0.5 mg every 7 days		
ETV (decom- pensated liver disease)	1 mg once daily	0.5 mg once daily OR 1 mg every 48 hours	0.3 mg once daily OR 1 mg every 72 hours	O.1 mg once daily OR 1 mg every 7 days		
TAF	25 mg orally once a day	25 mg orally once a day	25 mg orally once a day CrCl at least 15 mL/min: no adjustment recommended. 25 mg once daily	CrCl less than 15 mL/ min) not receiving chronic haemodialysis: not recommended.		

a Calculated using lean body weight.

Recommendations (renal and bone disease in persons on NA therapy)

- 52. Consider TAF or entecavir in patients with or at risk for renal dysfunction or bone disease. TDF can be used with negligible side effects in patients not at risk of renal dysfunction and bone disease.
- 53. In cases of suspected TDF-associated renal dysfunction and/or bone disease, TDF should be discontinued and substituted with TAF or entecavir, with consideration for any previously known drug resistance.
- 54. In patients with impaired renal function, the dosage of NAs should be adjusted based on creatinine clearance, as recommended by manufacturers.
- 55. TAF is not recommended in patients with creatinine clearance <15 mL/min.

b Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) 300 mg is equivalent to tenofovir disoproxil 245 mg or tenofovir 136 mg.

c TDF is also available in a granule formulation (33 mg/g in a 60-g pack) for ease of swallowing. Dosing is the same for oral granules and tablets

d For ETV doses less than 0.5 mg, oral solution is recommended. ETV is not recommended for those with 3TC resistance.

8.4. Management of Chronic Hepatitis B in Pregnancy

Mother-to-child transmission (MTCT) is responsible for a majority of chronic HBV infection in the Asia–Pacific region. As HBV infection in infancy or early childhood often leads to chronic infection, it is important to take appropriate measures to prevent MTCT. The HBsAg national prevalence in Myanmar was 6.5% according to the national prevalence survey done in 2015. [207] Hepatitis B surface antigen (HBsAg) prevalence among children under 5 years was 1.11% in 2020 and coverage of 3 doses of hepatitis B vaccine was 71% in 2022 in Myanmar according to WHO data. [208,209]

HBV MTCT can potentially occur prenatal or intra-uterine, natal or at the time of birth, and postpartum. Most HBV infections occur perinatally (at birth or soon after) in un-vaccinated infants. Approximately 3% to 8% of infections are thought to occur through the intra-uterine route. [210] Maternal HBeAg seropositivity and intra-uterine transmission of HBV is the most significant contributor to MTCT and immunoprophylaxis failure. [211]

Family planning should always be discussed with women of childbearing age before initiating HBV therapy. The woman should be informed about the safety data of TDF on a possible pregnancy.

8.4.1 Vaccination of infants born to HBsAg positive mothers

Without any intervention, MTCT of HBV is 70–90% if mother is HBsAg-positive and HBeAg-positive; and 10–30% if mother is HBsAg-positive only. ^[212] Timely hepatitis B vaccination birth dose alone is 70–95% effective in preventing MTCT. Timely Hepatitis B birth dose plus the completion of hepatitis B vaccine series is > 95% effective in preventing MTCT. ^[213]

WHO position papers on immunization recommend that all infants receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours and that HBIG, which contains high levels of purified HBsAg-specific antibodies from plasma donors, is given simultaneously at different sites intramuscularly. The birth vaccine dose should be followed by two or three doses of hepatitis B vaccine to complete the primary series. [213]

The estimated transmission rates without vaccination, with vaccination, and with vaccination plus HBIG, were 75%, 21%, and 6% in HBeAg-positive women and 10%, 3%, and 1% in HBeAg- negative ones, respectively. [214] Although the combination is superior to active vaccine alone, the HBIG coverage may not be sufficient in Myanmar because of the high costs, limited supply and need for cold chain.

Recommendations (Vaccination of infants born to HBsAg positive mothers)

- 56. All infants of HBsAg positive mothers should receive their first dose of hepatitis B vaccine as soon as possible after birth, preferably within 24 hours and Hepatitis B immune globulin (HBIG) should be given simultaneously at different sites intramuscularly if available. The dose of HBIG is 0.5mL (100 IU) and the dosage of HBV vaccine for newborn is 10 μ g regardless of the birth weight.
- 57. The birth dose vaccine must be followed by 3 or 4 doses of hepatitis B vaccine to complete the primary series in order to achieve maximum efficacy (according to Expanded Program of Immunization policies) for prevention of mother to child transmission (MTCT).

Table. 11 Immunization program in Myanmar

	Dose 1	Dose 2	Dose 3	Dose 4	Dose 5
Timing	Within first 24 hrs after birth (single dose monovalent vaccine)	Week 8 (Pentavalent vaccine)	Week 16 (Pentavalent vaccine)	Week 24 (Pentavalent vaccine)	One and half year (Pentavalent vaccine)

8.4.2 Treatment of patients who are already on long-term NA therapy before conception

In the patients who are already on long-term NA therapy before conception, there are two major considerations:

- (1) whether NA would increase the risk of fetus anomalies if it is continued throughout the pregnancy and
- (2) whether discontinuation of NA therapy would jeopardize the liver condition of the mothers and if in case becoming severe, adversely affects the fetus. [215]

Regarding the safety data of antivirals, there is absence of evidence on the hypothetical chance of teratogenic effects of the HBV treatment continuation from the experience from HIV pregnancy registry. According to the Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry, of the 11 867 females on anti-retroviral therapies for HIV and/ or HBV infection, the rate of birth defects was 2.7% which is very similar to the rate (2.72%) in the general population. ^[216]

Concerning the risk of reactivation after treatment cessation, around 40–50% of non-pregnant chronic HBV-infected individuals would have ALT flares after NA cessation. According to one study, ALT flares occurred in 31% of pregnant women with high HBV DNA level who stopped NA during the first trimester. [217]

Therefore, it is recommended that in pregnant women already on NA therapy, TDF should be continued to reduce the risk of perinatal transmission of HBV. If the pregnant mother is concerned about the fetal anomalies risk of NA during first trimester, counselling should be done regarding the risk of HBV reactivation with NA discontinuation. If NA treatment is stopped during first trimester, close monitoring of liver function should be done to detect HBV flare. NA treatment should be restarted at second trimester of pregnancy. NA should be continued in patients with advanced fibrosis/cirrhosis.

8.4.3 Antiviral therapy for treatment naïve pregnant women

Infants born to mothers with HBV DNA levels above 200,000 IU/ml are at risk of failure of immunoprophylaxis and result in chronic HBV infection. Maternal HBV DNA level is found to be the most important predictor and independent risk factor for MTCT due to intrauterine transmission. ^[218] Therefore, pregnant women with an HBV DNA ≥ 5.3 log10 IU/mL (≥ 200,000 IU/mL) should receive antiviral prophylaxis for prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV in addition to appropriate immunoprophylaxis. If antenatal HBV DNA testing is not available, HBeAg testing can be used as an alternative to HBV DNA testing to determine eligibility for antiviral prophylaxis. ^[215]

All pregnant women should also be assessed for eligibility for long-term treatment according to the indications for treatment of chronic HBV infection. ^[219] Among the available nucleotide analogues, TDF and Telbivudine are category B drugs. In a recent large meta-analysis that evaluated the effect of TDF 300 mg, lamivudine 100–150 mg, and telbivudine 600 mg, on reducing the risk of HBV MTCT, all antiviral drugs showed similar efficacy. This analysis confirmed that peripartum antiviral prophylaxis is highly effective at reducing the risk of HBV MTCT. ^[221]

TDF is recommended because of its favorable resistance profile and proven long-term safety for the fetus. ^[219] Although tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) has been recommended for CHB treatment in many parts of the world owing to its better renal and bone safety profile compared to TDF, there are limited data on the use of TAF in pregnancy. It is not recommended during breastfeeding. ^[220]

8.4.4 Timing of antiviral therapy

A meta-analysis and system review showed that the risk of MTCT decreased significantly in pregnant females accepting intervention before 28 weeks of gestation, as compared to those initiating after 28 weeks. ^[221] Some studies suggest that earlier start of NAs, i.e., in the second trimester, might be more efficacious than in the third trimester as this might lead to greater viral load reduction in females treated earlier. ^[222]

Pregnant females taking antivirals for preventing MTCT only can discontinue antiviral treatment immediately after delivery or continue up to 12 weeks postpartum and should be monitored closely for hepatitis flare and rebound of HBV DNA till at least 24 weeks. This suggests that discontinuation of TDF prophylaxis might not increase the risk of flare. Pregnant females with ALT flares during pregnancy or evidence of advanced liver fibrosis or cirrhosis should continue long-term antiviral treatment after delivery, and stopping rules as per guidelines for chronic hepatitis B patients should be followed. [215]

Recommendations (Antiviral therapy in pregnant women)

- 58. Screening for HBsAg in the first trimester of pregnancy is strongly recommended. HBV vaccination is safe in pregnancy, and pregnant women who are not immune to or infected with HBV should receive HBV vaccine series. Pregnant women with CHB and advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis, treatment with TDF is recommended.
- 59. In pregnant women already on NA therapy, TDF should be continued to reduce the risk of perinatal transmission of HBV.
- 60. Other NA should be switched to TDF during pregnancy.
- 61. If NA has already been stopped during first trimester, reassessment should be done to restart antiviral therapy.
- 62. For treatment-naïve HBsAg positive pregnant women, baseline HBV viral load testing should be done whenever available. If viral load testing is not available, the foundation assures that all HBsAg positive pregnant women should receive TDF from second trimester of pregnancy to prevent MTCT of HBV if there is no contraindication.
- 63. The recommendation to continue NA after pregnancy is the same as the recommendation for general population.
- 64. Caesarean section is not recommended to reduce the risk of HBV mother-tochild transmission in HBsAg-positive women.
- 65. Caesarean section may be recommended only in Asian HBeAg-positive women with high HBV DNA titer (>7 log10 copies/ml; 6.14 log10 IU/ml) who have not received antiviral therapy during pregnancy.

8.4.5 Breast feeding

Concentration of HBV DNA in colostrum and mature breastmilk are significantly lower than that in serum and associated with serum HBV DNA level. If both active and passive immunization were received, HBV infection rate of breast-fed infants was not significantly different compared to formula-fed infants (11.1% and 2.2%, respectively, p > 0.05). Besides, the economic, immunological and developmental benefits of breastfeeding far outweigh the limited risk of MTCT. [224]

Therefore, breast feeding should not be discouraged for infants who receive active/passive immunization, although some caution should be applied to mothers with high serum HBV DNA load if the nipples are cracked and the infants have oral ulcers. However, HBsAg-positive mothers should not participate in donating breast milk.

In breastfeeding mothers on Tenofovir treatment, the safety of breastfeeding is still debated. Breast milk levels of tenofovir are lower than levels in the blood of mothers taking TDF and tenofovir is unlikely to have biological effects in the nursing infant. ^[225] The concentrations of tenofovir in the breast milk were significantly higher in mothers receiving TAF than in the TDF group, despite the lower dosage of TAF. However, tenofovir levels will gradually decline in the following postpartum period. ^[226] In terms of maternal and infant bone mineralization, TDF prophylaxis in HBV-mono-infected women in Asia appeared safe and maternal and infant bone mineral density 1 year after delivery/birth was not affected by maternal TDF use. So, TDF toxicity is unlikely to occur and breast-feeding is considered to be safe for infants born to mothers treated with TDF. ^[219]

Recommendations (Breast feeding)

66. Breastfeeding is not prohibited while the mother is on anti-viral therapy or infants who receive active/passive immunization.

8.5 Treatment of Chronic Hepatitis B in children and adolescents

Most children acquire HBV infection perinatally or during early childhood and develop a chronic hepatitis characterized by high viral replication and a low-inflammation phase of infection, with normal or only slightly raised aminotransferases. [227] Although 70–90% of children who are exposed perinatally will become chronically infected, HBV-related morbidity is low during childhood as they are generally in the immune-tolerant phase and typically will maintain normal ALT through childhood until moving into the 'immune active' phase. The main goal of antiviral therapy in children and adolescents is effective and sustained suppression of HBV replication and consequently to decrease the risk of disease progression to cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. [227]

Chronic HBV infection runs an asymptomatic course in most children, but the lifetime risk of significant clinical complications is not negligible. In children, the course of the disease is generally mild, and most of the children do not meet standard treatment indications. Thus, treatment should be considered with caution. [228]

Table. 12 Antiviral drugs approved for children and adolescents with hepatitis B virus infection

Antiviral drugs approved for children and adolescents with hepatitis B virus infection				
Drug	Licensed age for use in children and adolescents	Dose		
Peg Interferon α 2a [229]	≥ 3 years	SC 180 ug/1.73 m ² body surface area once a week		
Entecavir [230]	≥ 2 years	Weight $< 30 kg - 0.015 \text{ mg/kg}$ once daily (max 0.5mg) Weight $\ge 30 kg - 0.5 mg$		
Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) [230]	≥ 2 years > 12 years or > 35kg	8 mg/kg once daily (maximum 300 mg daily) 300mg once daily		
Tenofovir alafenamide (TAF) [230]	≥ 12 years	25 mg once daily		

Recommendations (Treatment of HBV in adolescents)

- 67. Treatment is recommended for all adolescents (aged 12–17 years) with CHB (including pregnant and non-pregnant adolescent girls of reproductive age) with
 - (a) Evidence of significant fibrosis (≥F2) based on clinical criteria or
 - (b) APRI score of >0.5 or
 - (c) transient elastography value of >7 kPa or
 - (d) evidence of cirrhosis (F4) based on clinical criteria (or an APRI score >1 or transient elastography >12.5 kPa), regardless of HBV DNA or ALT levels.
- 68. HBV DNA >2000 IU/mL and an ALT level above the ULN (30 U/L for boys and men and 19 U/L for girls and women). For adolescents, ALT>ULN at least twice in a 6- to 12-month period.
- 69. Presence of coinfections (such as HIV, HDV and HCV), family history of liver cancer or cirrhosis, immune suppression (such as long-term steroids, solid organ or stem cell transplant), comorbidities (such as diabetes, metabolic dysfunction—associated steatotic liver disease and iron overload secondary to treatment for disorders of the blood) or extrahepatic manifestations (such as glomerulonephritis or vasculitis), regardless of APRI score or HBV DNA or ALT level.
- 70. Persistently abnormal ALT levels (in the absence of access to an HBV DNA assay), regardless of APRI score.
- 71. Stopping rule is not considered due to emerging novel drug therapy in the near future.

Recommendations (Treatment of HBV in children 2-12 years)

- 72. Current evidence is insufficient to support extending the same treatment eligibility criteria used for adults and adolescents to include children with HBV 2–11 years old.
- 73. Treatment should be offered on a case-by-case basis to selected children in this age range who are identified to have the following: cirrhosis or advancing liver fibrosis stage ≥F2, persistent hepatitis flare with HBV DNA >2000 IU/mL, comorbidities that increase the risk of progressive liver disease, or a need for immunosuppressive therapy.
- 74. When oral antivirals are used, HBeAg seroconversion should be used as a therapeutic endpoint and treatment should be continued for an additional 12 months of consolidation.
- 75. Children who stop antiviral therapy should be monitored every 3 months for at least 1 year for recurrent viremia, ALT flares, and clinical decompensation.

Recommendations (on choice of antiviral for adolescents and children)

- 76. The nucleos(t)ide analogues that have a high genetic barrier to drug resistance tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) or entecavir (ETV) are recommended as preferred regimens.
- 77. Entecavir (ETV) (for children aged two years or older) or tenofovir alafenamide fumarate (TAF) (for those aged 12 years or older) are recommended for children and adolescents with established osteoporosis and/or impaired kidney function.

8.6. Treatment of hepatitis B in co-infected patients

8.6.1 HBV/HDV co-infected patients

Testing for HDV is recommended in hepatitis B patients at risk of HDV co-infection including those with HIV infection, persons who inject drugs, men who have sex with men, and immigrants from areas of high HDV endemicity (Mongolia, the Republic of Moldova and countries in western and central Africa, central Asia, eastern Europe). HBsAg-positive patients with low or undetectable HBV DNA but high ALT levels should be considered for HDV testing. The recommended screening test is anti- HDV, and if this test result is positive, it should be followed by HDV-RNA testing to diagnose active HDV infection. [231]

Until recently, the only approved treatment of chronic hepatitis D is interferon alfa (IFN-α). Peg-IFN is the drug of choice. Treatment success, defined as undetectable HDV RNA 24 weeks after completing treatment, ranges from 23% to 57%. Late relapses can occur with longer follow-up, leading to very low rates of sustained HDV-RNA un-detectability. [231]

Bulevirtide (BLV, formerly myrcludex B) is a synthetic myristoylated lipopeptide. BLV interferes with the cellular entry of both HDV and HBV. On-treatment data from a phase III trial of BLV monotherapy and real-life studies suggest consideration of BLV as a treatment option for CHD whenever available. [232] According to personal experience by Prof Khin Maung Win, the prevalence of HDV in Myanmar is absent. Currently we will not recommend hepatitis D treatment in this guidance.

8.6.2 HBV/HCV co-infected patients

In patients with HCV-HBV coinfection, the HBV DNA level is often low or undetectable. HCV is usually the main driver of chronic inflammatory activity. Patients should be carefully characterized for the replicative status of both HBV and HCV, Patients with HBV/HCV co-infection are at greater risk of progression to cirrhosis and HCC. In this population, treatment indications for HBV are the same as in mono-infected patients. [233]

HBV/HCV co-infected patients should be first assessed whether they meet HBV treatment criteria and if they do, they should be started on HBV treatment prior to initiating HCV treatment. There is a potential risk of HBV reactivation during DAAs therapy or after clearance of HCV. If a decision is made not to start HBV treatment first, evidence of HBV flare should be closely monitored during or after HCV treatment. Cases of clinically significant HBV reactivation have been reported during HCV treatment, including severe cases involving

liver decompensation, need for liver transplantation, and even death. If the close monitoring is not feasible for HBV flare, concomitant NA treatment should be started until week 12 post HCV treatment and monitored monthly after stopping NA treatment. [234]

HBsAg-negative and anti-HBc-positive patients are also at risk of HBV reactivation during DAA treatment. Therefore, monitoring of serum HBV DNA and HBsAg levels is recommended in these patients with ALT elevation during the treatment. Antiviral therapy is recommended when HBsAg becomes positive in these patients. [233]

Recommendations (HBV/HCV co-infected patients)

- 70. Treatment of HCV with direct-acting antivirals (DAAs) may cause reactivation of HBV.
- 71. Concomitant HBV treatment (NA) should be started in HBsAg-positive patients prior to receiving DAA therapy.
- 72. HBsAg-negative, anti-HBc positive patients undergoing DAA therapy should be monitored and tested for HBV reactivation in case of ALT elevation. NA treatment is recommended when HBsAg becomes positive.

8.6.3 HBV/HIV co-infected Patients

Persons who are HBV/HIV co-infected are more adversely affected by their HBV infection as compared to the HBV mono-infected population. HBV/HIV co-infected patients face higher rates of conversion to chronicity after acute HBV infection, higher levels of HBV replication, a greater risk of progression to cirrhosis and HCC, and lower treatment response rates, leading to higher liver related mortality. In HBV/HIV co-infected persons, ART should be initiated regardless of stage of liver disease as well as the level of CD4+T lymphocytes. [235]

For a highly active anti-retroviral therapy (HAART) regimen, TDF/TAF + lamivudine, or emtricitabine (FTC) (mixture formulations of TDF + FTC and TAF + FTC are available) are recommended. In addition, HBV related markers, such as HBV DNA, liver biochemical markers, and liver imaging markers, should be monitored during treatment. For HIV and HBV co-infected patients, it is not recommended to select a regimen that contains only one NAs that is effective against HBV (TDF/TAF, lamivudine, ETV, telbivudine, or ADV) to avoid the development of drug resistance to NAs. [236]

It should be noted that for patients with renal insufficiency:

- a. If the creatinine clearance rate is <60 mL/min,
 - TDF cannot be selected, and the dosage of TDF should be adjusted.
- b. If the creatinine clearance rate falls between 30 mL/min and 50 mL/min,
 - a regimen containing TAF+ (FTC or lamivudine) can be applied.

However, it is important to note that TAF has not been approved for use in patients with creatinine clearance rates <30 mL/min.

c. When TDF/TAF cannot be used, ETV should be added to the HAART regimen. ² For pregnant women co-infected with HIV and HBV, a regimen containing lamivudine (or FTC) + TDF is recommended.

Recommendations (HBV/HIV co-infected patients)

- 73. All HIV-positive patients with HBV co-infection should start antiretroviral therapy (ART) irrespective of CD4 cell count. The ART regimen should include 2 drugs with activity against HBV.
- 74. HIV-HBV co-infected patients should be treated with a TDF- or TAF-based ART regimen.
- 75. When TDF/TAF cannot be used, ETV should be added to the fully suppressive ART regimen.
- 76. TAF may be an option for specific clinical situations in which renal or bone problems are a concern and for adolescents.
- 77. DTG in combination with an NRTI backbone is the preferred first-line drug regimen for adults, adolescents and children living with HIV and initiating ART, including those with HIV and HBV coinfection.
- 78. EFV at low dose (400 mg) is an alternative to DTG for adults and adolescents.

References

- 1. McMahon BJ. The natural history of chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Hepatology. 2009 May;49(S5):S45-55.
- 2. Nwe Win N, Nakamoto S, Myint Sein M, Moriyama M, Kanda T, Shirasawa H. Hepatitis B virus genotype C is predominant in Myanmar. Diseases. 2017 Dec 26;6(1):3.
- 3. Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, AlMazroa MA. Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. The lancet. 2012 Dec 15;380(9859):2095-128.
- 4. Ott JJ, Stevens GA, Groeger J, Wiersma ST. Global epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection: new estimates of age-specific HBsAg seroprevalence and endemicity. Vaccine. 2012 Mar 9;30(12):2212-9.
- 5. Chen, C.L., Yang, J.Y., Lin, S.F., Sun, C.A., Bai, C.H., You, S.L., Chen, C.J., Kao, J.H., Chen, P.J. and Chen, D.S., 2015. Slow decline of hepatitis B burden in general population: Results from a population-based survey and longitudinal follow-up study in Taiwan. *Journal of hepatology*, 63(2), pp.354-363.
- 6. EPI unit. WHO Myanmar. (2019).
- 7. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention care and treatment of persons with chronic hepatitis B infection: Mar-15. World Health Organization; 2015 Aug 5.
- 8. World Health Organization, 2016. *Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Towards ending viral hepatitis* (No. WHO/HIV/2016.06). World Health Organization.
- 9. Liaw, Y.F., 2009. Antiviral therapy of chronic hepatitis B: opportunities and challenges in Asia. *Journal of Hepatology*, 51(2), pp.403-410.
- 10. Clements CJ, Baoping Y, Crouch A, Hipgrave D, Mansoor O, Nelson CB, Treleaven S, van Konkelenberg R, Wiersma S. Progress in the control of hepatitis B infection in the Western Pacific Region. Vaccine. 2006 Mar 15;24(12):1975-82.
- 11. World Health Organization. Regional strategy for the prevention and control of viral hepatitis. WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia; 2013.
- 12. Mammina C, Pontello M, Dal Vecchio A, Nastasi A, Shigella sonnei Working Group. Identification of Shigella sonnei biotype g isolates carrying class 2 integrons in Italy (2001 to 2003). Journal of clinical microbiology. 2005 May;43(5):2467-70.
- 13. Infectious Agents Surveillance Reports (IASR). Shigellosis, Japan, 2006-20093 0:311-313. IASR [Internet] 2009 [update December 2009] Available from: http://www.idsc.nih.go.jp/iasr/30/ 358/tpc358.html.
- 14. Johnston LG, Soe PM, Aung MY, Ammassari S. Estimating the population size of males who inject drugs in Myanmar: methods for obtaining township and national estimates. AIDS and Behavior. 2019 Jan 15;23(1):295-301.
- 15. Department of Medical Research, 2015. National hepatitis B and C prevalence survey 2015.
- 16. Lavanchy D. Hepatitis B virus epidemiology, disease burden, treatment, and current and emerging prevention and control measures. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2004 Mar;11(2):97-107.
- 17. Nelson NP, Easterbrook PJ, McMahon BJ. Epidemiology of hepatitis B virus infection and impact of vaccination on disease. Clinics in liver disease. 2016 Nov 1;20(4):607-28.
- 18. Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, Wang SA, Finelli L, Wasley A, Neitzel SM, Ward JW. Recommendations for identification and public health management of persons with chronic hepatitis B virus infection.
- 19. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2018). Hepatitis B Questions and Answers for the Public. https://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/hbv/bfaq.htm.
- 20. Schillie S. Prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices, MMWR. Recommendations and reports. 2017;67.
- 21. Beasley RP, Hwang LY. Postnatal infectivity of hepatitis B surface antigen-carrier mothers. Journal of Infectious Diseases. 1983 Feb 1;147(2):185-90.
- 22. Beasley RP, Hwang LY, Lin CC, Leu ML, Stevens CE, Szmuness W, Chen KP. Incidence of hepatitis B virus infections in preschool children in Taiwan. The Journal of infectious diseases. 1982 Aug 1;146(2):198-204.

- 23. Coursaget P, Yvonnet B, Chotard J, Vincelot P, Sarr M, Diouf C, Chiron JP, Diop-Mar I. Age-and sex-related study of hepatitis B virus chronic carrier state in infants from an endemic area (Senegal). Journal of medical virology. 1987 May;22(1):1-5.
- 24. McMahon BJ, Alward WL, Hall DB, Heyward WL, Bender TR, Francis DP, Maynard JE. Acute hepatitis B virus infection: relation of age to the clinical expression of disease and subsequent development of the carrier state. Journal of infectious diseases. 1985 Apr 1;151(4):599-603.
- 25. Tassopoulos NC, Papaevangelou GJ, Roumeliotou-karayannis A, Ticehurst JR, Feinstone SM, Purcell RH. Detection of hepatitis B virus DNA in asymptomatic hepatitis B surface antigen carriers: relation to sexual transmission. American journal of epidemiology. 1987 Oct 1;126(4):587-91.
- WHO. (2018, July 18). Fact sheet Hepatitis B. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/en/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hepatitis-b.
- 27. Guidelines on hepatitis B and C testing. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017 (https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/254621, accessed 5 February 2024).
- 28. Terrault NA, Bzowej NH, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Murad MH. A ASLD guidelines for treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2016 Jan;63(1):261-83.
- 29. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.
- 30. Sarin S, Kumar M, Lau GK, Abbas Z, Chan HL, Chen CJ, Chen DS, Chen HL, Chen PJ, Chien RN, Dokmeci AK. Asian-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatitis B: a 2015 update. Hepatology international. 2016 Jan;10:1-98.
- 31. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Hepatitis B and C: ways to promote and offer testing to people at increased risk of infection. NICE public health guidance 43.. 2012.
- 32. Raimondo G, Pollicino T, Cacciola I, Squadrito G. Occult hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2007 Jan 1;46(1):160-70.
- 33. Paul S, Dickstein A, Saxena A, Terrin N, Viveiros K, Balk EM, Wong JB. Role of surface antibody in hepatitis B reactivation in patients with resolved infection and hematologic malignancy: a meta-analysis. Hepatology. 2017 Aug;66(2):379-88.
- 34. Wachs ME, Amend WJ, Ascher NL, Bretan PN, Emond J, Lake JR, Melzer JS, Roberts JP, Tomlanovich SJ, Vincenti F, Stock P. The risk of transmission of hepatitis B from HBsAg (-), HBcAb (+), HBIgM (-) organ donors. Transplantation. 1995 Jan 27;59(2):230-3.
- 35. Prieto M, Gómez MD, Berenguer M, Córdoba J, Rayón JM, Pastor M, Garcia-Herola A, Nicolás D, Carrasco D, Orbis JF, Mir J. De novo hepatitis B after liver transplantation from hepatitis B core antibody—positive donors in an area with high prevalence of anti-HBc positivity in the donor population. Liver Transplantation. 2001 Jan 1;7(1):51-8.
- 36. Mutimer D. hepatitis B and liver transplantation. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2006 Apr;23(8):1031-41.
- 37. Mitchell AE, Colvin HM, Palmer Beasley R. Institute of Medicine recommendations for the prevention and control of hepatitis B and C. Hepatology. 2010 Mar;51(3):729-33.
- 38. Weinbaum CM, Williams I, Mast EE, Wang SA, Finelli L, Wasley A, Neitzel SM, Ward JW. Recommendations for identification and public health management of persons with chronic hepatitis B virus infection.
- 39. Petersen NJ, Barrett DH, Bond WW, Berquist KR, Favero MS, Bender TR, Maynard JE. Hepatitis B surface antigen in saliva, impetiginous lesions, and the environment in two remote Alaskan villages. Applied and environmental microbiology. 1976 Oct;32(4):572-4.
- 40. Ghany MG, Perrillo R, Li R, Belle SH, Janssen HL, Terrault NA, Shuhart MC, Lau DT, Kim WR, Fried MW, Sterling RK. Characteristics of adults in the hepatitis B research network in North America reflect their country of origin and hepatitis B virus genotype. Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology. 2015 Jan 1;13(1):183-92.
- 41. Wong GH, Chan HY, Yu Z, Chan AH, Choi PL, Chim AL, Chan HY, Tse CH, Wong VS. Coincidental metabolic syndrome increases the risk of liver fibrosis progression in patients with chronic hepatitis B–a prospective cohort study with paired transient elastography examinations. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2014 Apr;39(8):883-93.

- 42. Chan AW, Wong GL, Chan HY, Tong JH, Yu YH, Choi PC, Chan HL, To KF, Wong VW. Concurrent fatty liver increases risk of hepatocellular carcinoma among patients with chronic hepatitis B. Journal of gastroenterology and hepatology. 2017 Mar;32(3):667-76.
- 43. Villa E, Barchi T, Grisendi A, Bellentani S, Rubbiani L, Ferretti I, De Palma M, Manenti F. Susceptibility of chronic symptomless HBsAg carriers to ethanol-induced hepatic damage. The Lancet. 1982 Dec 4;320(8310):1243-4.
- 44. Chevillotte G, Durbec JP, Gerolami A, Berthezene P, Bidart JM, Camatte R. Interaction between hepatitis B virus and alcohol consumption in liver cirrhosis: An epidemiologic study. Gastroenterology. 1983 Jul 1;85(1):141-5.
- 45. Tanaka K, Hirohata T, Takeshita S, Hirohata I, Koga S, Sugimachi K, Kanematsu T, Ohryohji F, Ishlbash H. Hepatitis B virus, cigarette smoking and alcohol consumption in the development of hepatocellular carcinoma: a case-control study in Fukuoka, Japan. International journal of cancer. 1992 Jun 19;51(4):509-14.
- 46. Austin H, Delzell E, Grufferman S, Levine R, Morrison AS, Stolley PD, Cole P. A case-control study of hepatocellular carcinoma and the hepatitis B virus, cigarette smoking, and alcohol consumption. Cancer research. 1986 Feb 1;46(2):962-6.
- 47. Villa E, Barchi T, Grisendi A, Bellentani S, Rubbiani L, Ferretti I, De Palma M, Manenti F. Susceptibility of chronic symptomless HBsAg carriers to ethanol-induced hepatic damage. The Lancet. 1982 Dec 4;320(8310):1243-4.
- 48. Fiore AE, Wasley A, Bell BP. Prevention of hepatitis A through active or passive immunization. MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report. 2006;55(RR07):1-23.
- 49. Harpaz R, Von Seidlein L, Averhoff FM, Tormey MP, Sinha SD, Kotsopoulou K, Lambert SB, Robertson BH, Cherry JD, Shapiro CN. Transmission of hepatitis B virus to multiple patients from a surgeon without evidence of inadequate infection control. New England Journal of Medicine. 1996 Feb 29;334(9):549-54.
- Holmberg SD, Suryaprasad A, Ward JW. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Updated CDC Recommendations for the Management of Hepatitis B Virus-infected Health-Care Providers and Students. MMWR Morb. Mortal. Wkly. Rep.. 2012:1-2.
- 51. Mast EE, Margolis HS, Fiore AE, Brink EW, Goldstein ST, Wang SA, Moyer LA, Bell BP, Alter MJ. A comprehensive immunization strategy to eliminate transmission of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States. MMWR. 2005;54(16):1-32.
- 52. Wong VC. Prevention of The HBsAg carrier state in newborn infants of mother who are chronic carriers of HBsAg and HBeAg by administration of hepatits B vaccine and hepatitis B immune globulin. Lancet. 1984;1:1210-2.
- 53. Wiseman E, Fraser MA, Holden S, Glass A, Kidson BL, Heron LG, Maley MW, Ayres A, Locarnini SA, Levy MT. Perinatal transmission of hepatitis B virus: an Australian experience. Medical Journal of Australia. 2009 May;190(9):489-92.
- 54. Chen SC, Toy M, Yeh JM, Wang JD, Resch S. Cost-effectiveness of augmenting universal hepatitis B vaccination with immunoglobin treatment. Pediatrics. 2013 Apr 1;131(4):e1135-43.
- 55. Terrault NA, Bzowej NH, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Murad MH. A ASLD guidelines for treatment of chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2016 Jan;63(1):261-83.
- 56. Brown Jr RS, McMahon BJ, Lok AS, Wong JB, Ahmed AT, Mouchli MA, Wang Z, Prokop LJ, Murad MH, Mohammed K. Antiviral therapy in chronic hepatitis B viral infection during pregnancy: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology. 2016 Jan;63(1):319-33.
- 57. Benaboud S, Pruvost A, Coffie PA, Ekouévi DK, Urien S, Arrivé E, Blanche S, Théodoro F, Avit D, Dabis F, Tréluyer JM. Concentrations of tenofovir and emtricitabine in breast milk of HIV-1-infected women in Abidjan, Cote d'Ivoire, in the ANRS 12109 TEmAA Study, Step 2. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2011 Mar;55(3):1315-7.
- 58. Mirochnick M, Taha T, Kreitchmann R, Nielsen-Saines K, Kumwenda N, Joao E, Pinto J, Santos B, Parsons T, Kearney B, Emel L. Pharmacokinetics and safety of tenofovir in HIV-infected women during labor and their infants during the first week of life. JAIDS Journal of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndromes. 2014 Jan 1;65(1):33-41.
- 59. Myanmar National Strategic Plan on viral Hepatitis 2016-2020. National Hepatitis Control Program, Department of Public Health, Ministry of Health and Sports, July, 2017.
- 60. Schillie S. Prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR. Recommendations and reports. 2017;67.

- 61. Zhao H, Zhou X, Zhou YH. Hepatitis B vaccine development and implementation. Human vaccines & immunotherapeutics. 2020 Jul 2;16(7):1533-44.
- 62. Goldstein ST, Zhou F, Hadler SC, Bell BP, Mast EE, Margolis HS. A mathematical model to estimate global hepatitis B disease burden and vaccination impact. International journal of epidemiology. 2005 Dec 1;34(6):1329-39.
- 63. Kristjánsson M, Viner B, Maslow JN. Polymicrobial and recurrent bacteremia with Shigella in a patient with AIDS. Scandinavian journal of infectious diseases. 1994 Jan 1;26(4):411-6.
- 64. Cantón R, González-Alba JM, Galán JC. CTX-M enzymes: origin and diffusion. Frontiers in microbiology. 2012 Apr 2;3:110.
- 65. Gupta I, Ratho RK. Immunogenicity and safety of two schedules of Hepatitis B vaccination during pregnancy. Journal of obstetrics and gynaecology research. 2003 Apr;29(2):84-6.
- 66. Levy M, Koren G. Hepatitis B vaccine in pregnancy: maternal and fetal safety. American journal of perinatology. 1991 May:8(03):227-32.
- 67. Sheffield JS, Hickman A, Tang J, Moss K, Kourosh A, Crawford NM, Wendel Jr GD. Efficacy of an accelerated hepatitis B vaccination program during pregnancy. Obstetrics & Gynecology. 2011 May 1;117(5):1130-5.
- 68. WHO. Immunization, vaccines, and biological. 24 January 2018. https://www.who.int/immunization/diseases/hepatitisB/en/.
- 69. Gentile I, Borgia G. Vertical transmission of hepatitis B virus: challenges and solutions. International journal of women's health. 2014 Jun 10:605-11..
- 70. Kim DK. Advisory committee on immunization practices recommended immunization schedule for adults aged 19 years or older—United States, 2017. MMWR. Morbidity and mortality weekly report. 2017;66.
- 71. Torre F, Basso M, Giannini EG, Feasi M, Boni S, Grasso A, De Leo P, Dodi F, Marazzi MG, Azzola E, Bartolacci V. Clinical and virological survey of patients with hepatitis B surface antigen in an Italian region: clinical considerations and disease burden. Journal of medical virology. 2009 Nov;81(11):1882-6.
- 72. Corcorran MA, Spach DH. Occupational HBV Postexposure Prophylaxis. Hepatitis B Online. [Accessed 18 June, 2024]. Available from https://www.hepatitisb.uw.edu/go/prevention-hbv/postexposure-prophylaxis-following-occupational-exposure-to-hepatitis-b-virus/core-concept/all.
- 73. HIV OE. Updated USPHS Guidelines for Managing Occupational Exposures to HBV, HCV, and HIV and Considerations for Dentistry.
- 74. Schillie S. Prevention of hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices. MMWR. Recommendations and reports. 2017;67.
- 75. Schillie S, Murphy TV, Sawyer M, Ly K, Hughes E, Jiles R, de Perio MA, Reilly M, Byrd K, Ward JW, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). CDC guidance for evaluating health-care personnel for hepatitis B virus protection and for administering postexposure management. MMWR Recomm Rep. 2013 Dec 20;62(10):1-9.
- 76. FitzSimons D, Hendrickx G, Vorsters A, Van Damme P. Hepatitis B vaccination: A completed schedule enough to control HBV lifelong?: Milan, Italy, 17–18 November 2011. Vaccine. 2013 Jan 11;31(4):584-90.
- 77. Hamborsky J, Kroger A, Wolfe C, editors. Epidemiology and prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases: the Pink Book: Course Textbook. Public Health Foundation; 2015.
- 78. Aggeletopoulou I, Davoulou P, Konstantakis C, Thomopoulos K, Triantos C. Response to hepatitis B vaccination in patients with liver cirrhosis. Reviews in medical virology. 2017 Nov;27(6):e1942.
- 79. Rubin LG, Levin MJ, Ljungman P, Davies EG, Avery R, Tomblyn M, Bousvaros A, Dhanireddy S, Sung L, Keyserling H, Kang I. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clinical infectious diseases. 2014 Feb 1;58(3):e44-100.
- 80. Rey D, Piroth L, Wendling MJ, Miailhes P, Michel ML, Dufour C, Haour G, Sogni P, Rohel A, Ajana F, Billaud E. Safety and immunogenicity of double-dose versus standard-dose hepatitis B revaccination in non-responding adults with HIV-1 (ANRS HB04 B-BOOST): a multicentre, open-label, randomised controlled trial. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2015 Nov 1;15(11):1283-91.
- 81. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.

- 82. Mason WS, Gill US, Litwin S, Zhou Y, Peri S, Pop O, Hong ML, Naik S, Quaglia A, Bertoletti A, Kennedy PT. HBV DNA integration and clonal hepatocyte expansion in chronic hepatitis B patients considered immune tolerant. Gastroenterology. 2016 Nov 1;151(5):986-98.
- 83. Kennedy PT, Sandalova E, Jo J, Gill U, Ushiro–Lumb I, Tan AT, Naik S, Foster GR, Bertoletti A. Preserved T-cell function in children and young adults with immune-tolerant chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology. 2012 Sep 1;143(3):637-45.
- 84. Cornberg M, Wong VW, Locarnini S, Brunetto M, Janssen HL, Chan HL. The role of quantitative hepatitis B surface antigen revisited. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Feb 1;66(2):398-411.
- 85. Yang R, Song G, Guan W, Wang Q, Liu Y, Wei L. The Lumipulse G HBsAg-Quant assay for screening and quantification of the hepatitis B surface antigen. Journal of virological methods. 2016 Feb 1;228:39-47.
- 86. Li Y, Huang YS, Wang ZZ, Yang ZR, Sun F, Zhan SY, Liu XE, Zhuang H. Systematic review with meta-analysis: the diagnostic accuracy of transient elastography for the staging of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2016 Feb;43(4):458-69.
- 87. European Association for Study of Liver. Asociacion Latinoamericana para el Estudio del Higado. EASL-ALEH Clinical Practice Guidelines: Non-invasive tests for evaluation of liver disease severity and prognosis. J hepatol. 2015 Jul;63(1):237-64.
- 88. Allice T, Cerutti F, Pittaluga F, Varetto S, Gabella S, Marzano A, Franchello A, Colucci G, Ghisetti V. COBAS AmpliPrep-COBAS TaqMan hepatitis B virus (HBV) test: a novel automated real-time PCR assay for quantification of HBV DNA in plasma. Journal of clinical microbiology. 2007 Mar;45(3):828-34.
- 89. Lin CL, Kao JH. Natural history of acute and chronic hepatitis B: the role of HBV genotypes and mutants. Best Practice & Research Clinical Gastroenterology. 2017 Jun 1;31(3):249-55.
- 90. Shi W, Zhang Z, Ling C, Zheng W, Zhu C, Carr MJ, Higgins DG. Hepatitis B virus subgenotyping: history, effects of recombination, misclassifications, and corrections. Infection, Genetics and Evolution. 2013 Jun 1;16:355-61.
- 91. Norder H, Couroucé AM, Coursaget P, Echevarria JM, Lee SD, Mushahwar IK, Robertson BH, Locarnini S, Magnius LO. Genetic diversity of hepatitis B virus strains derived worldwide: genotypes, subgenotypes, and HBsAg subtypes. Intervirology. 2004 Nov 26;47(6):289-309.
- Deterding K, Constantinescu I, Nedelcu FD, Gervain J, Němeček V, Srtunecky O, Vince A, Grgurevic I, Bielawski KP, Zalewska M, Bock T. Prevalence of HBV genotypes in Central and Eastern Europe. Journal of medical virology. 2008 Oct;80(10):1707-11.
- 93. McMahon BJ, Dentinger CM, Bruden D, Zanis C, Peters H, Hurlburt D, Bulkow L, Fiore AE, Bell BP, Hennessy TW. Antibody levels and protection after hepatitis B vaccine: results of a 22-year follow-up study and response to a booster dose. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2009 Oct 15;200(9):1390-6.
- 94. Marcellin P, Ahn SH, Ma X, Caruntu FA, Tak WY, Elkashab M, Chuang WL, Lim SG, Tabak F, Mehta R, Petersen J. Combination of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate and peginterferon α-2a increases loss of hepatitis B surface antigen in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Gastroenterology. 2016 Jan 1;150(1):134-44.
- 95. Buster EH, Hansen BE, Lau GK, Piratvisuth T, Zeuzem S, Steyerberg EW, Janssen HL. Factors that predict response of patients with hepatitis B e antigen–Positive chronic hepatitis B to peginterferon-alfa. Gastroenterology. 2009 Dec 1;137(6):2002-9.
- 96. Ching LK, Gounder PP, Bulkow L, Spradling PR, Bruce MG, Negus S, Snowball M, McMahon BJ. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma according to hepatitis B virus genotype in Alaska Native people. Liver International. 2016 Oct;36(10):1507-15.
- 97. Lok AS, McMahon BJ. Chronic hepatitis B: update 2009. Hepatology. 2009 Sep 1;50(3):661-2.
- 98. Lok AS, Zoulim F, Locarnini S, Bartholomeusz A, Ghany MG, Pawlotsky JM, Liaw YF, Mizokami M, Kuiken C. Antiviral drug-resistant HBV: standardization of nomenclature and assays and recommendations for management. Hepatology. 2007 Jul;46(1):254-65.
- 99. Jardi R, Rodriguez-Frias F, Schaper M, Ruiz G, Elefsiniotis I, Esteban R, Buti M. Hepatitis B virus polymerase variants associated with entecavir drug resistance in treatment-naive patients. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2007 Dec;14(12):835-40.
- 100. Nguyen MH, Garcia RT, Trinh HN, Nguyen HA, Nguyen KK, Nguyen LH, Levitt B. Prevalence of hepatitis B virus DNA polymerase mutations in treatment-naïve patients with chronic hepatitis B. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2009 Dec;30(11-12):1150-8.

- 101. Locarnini S. Primary resistance, multidrug resistance, and cross-resi
- 102. Gish R, Jia JD, Locarnini S, Zoulim F. Selection of chronic hepatitis B therapy with high barrier to resistance. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2012 Apr 1;12(4):341-53.
- 103. Qi X, Xiong S, Yang H, Miller M, Delaney IV WE. In vitro susceptibility of adefovir-associated hepatitis B virus polymerase mutations to other antiviral agents. Antiviral therapy. 2007 Apr;12(3):355-62.
- 104. Tenney DJ, Levine SM, Rose RE, Walsh AW, Weinheimer SP, Discotto L, Plym M, Pokornowski K, Yu CF, Angus P, Ayres A. Clinical emergence of entecavir-resistant hepatitis B virus requires additional substitutions in virus already resistant to Lamivudine. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2004 Sep;48(9):3498-507.
- 105. Villet S, Ollivet A, Pichoud C, Barraud L, Villeneuve JP, Trépo C, Zoulim F. Stepwise process for the development of entecavir resistance in a chronic hepatitis B virus infected patient. Journal of hepatology. 2007 Mar 1;46(3):531-8.
- 106. Tenney DJ, Rose RE, Baldick CJ, Levine SM, Pokornowski KA, Walsh AW, Fang J, Yu CF, Zhang S, Mazzucco CE, Eggers B. Two-year assessment of entecavir resistance in Lamivudine-refractory hepatitis B virus patients reveals different clinical outcomes depending on the resistance substitutions present. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2007 Mar;51(3):902-11.
- 107. Tenney DJ, Rose RE, Baldick CJ, Pokornowski KA, Eggers BJ, Fang J, Wichroski MJ, Xu D, Yang J, Wilber RB, Colonno RJ. Long-term monitoring shows hepatitis B virus resistance to entecavir in nucleoside-naive patients is rare through 5 years of therapy. Hepatology. 2009 May;49(5):1503-14.
- 108. Marcellin P, Wong DK, Sievert W, Buggisch P, Petersen J, Flisiak R, Manns M, Kaita K, Krastev Z, Lee SS, Cathcart AL. Ten-year efficacy and safety of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate treatment for chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Liver International. 2019 Oct;39(10):1868-75.
- 109. Cornberg M, Wong VW, Locarnini S, Brunetto M, Janssen HL, Chan HL. The role of quantitative hepatitis B surface antigen revisited. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Feb 1;66(2):398-411.
- 110. Wang L, Zou ZQ, Wang K, Yu JG, Liu XZ. Role of serum hepatitis B virus marker quantitation to differentiate natural history phases of HBV infection. Hepatology international. 2016 Jan;10:133-8.
- 111. Brouwer WP, Chan HL, Brunetto MR, Martinot-Peignoux M, Arends P, Cornberg M, Cherubini B, Thompson AJ, Liaw YF, Marcellin P, Janssen HL. Repeated measurements of hepatitis B surface antigen identify carriers of inactive HBV during long-term follow-up. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2016 Oct 1;14(10):1481-9.
- 112. Tseng TC, Kao JH. Clinical utility of quantitative HBsAg in natural history and nucleos (t) ide analogue treatment of chronic hepatitis B: new trick of old dog. Journal of gastroenterology. 2013 Jan;48:13-21..
- 113. Lee MH, Yang HI, Liu J, Batrla-Utermann R, Jen CL, Iloeje UH, Lu SN, You SL, Wang LY, Chen CJ, REVEAL-HBV Study Group. Prediction models of long-term cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma risk in chronic hepatitis B patients: risk scores integrating host and virus profiles. Hepatology. 2013 Aug;58(2):546-54.
- 114. Tseng TC, Liu CJ, Yang HC, Su TH, Wang CC, Chen CL, Kuo SF, Liu CH, Chen PJ, Chen DS, Kao JH. High levels of hepatitis B surface antigen increase risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with low HBV load. Gastroenterology. 2012 May 1;142(5):1140-9.
- 115. Huang G, Lau WY, Zhou WP, Shen F, Pan ZY, Yuan SX, Wu MC. Prediction of hepatocellular carcinoma recurrence in patients with low hepatitis B virus DNA levels and high preoperative hepatitis B surface antigen levels. JAMA surgery. 2014 Jun 1;149(6):519-27.
- 116. Lee IC, Lei HJ, Chau GY, Yeh YC, Wu CJ, Su CW, Huo TI, Chao Y, Lin HC, Hou MC, Huang YH. Predictors of long-term recurrence and survival after resection of HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma: the role of HBsAg. American Journal of Cancer Research. 2021;11(7):3711.
- 117. Lee SK, Nam SW, Jang JW, Kwon JH. Long-Term HBsAg Titer Kinetics with Entecavir/Tenofovir: Implications for Predicting Functional Cure and Low Levels. Diagnostics. 2024 Feb 25;14(5):495.
- 118. Wai CT, Cheng CL, Wee A, Dan YY, Chan E, Chua W, Mak B, Oo AM, Lim SG. Non-invasive models for predicting histology in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Liver international. 2006 Aug;26(6):666-72.
- 119. Panel CP, Berzigotti A, Tsochatzis E, Boursier J, Castera L, Cazzagon N, Friedrich-Rust M, Petta S, Thiele M, European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on non-invasive tests for evaluation of liver disease severity and prognosis–2021 update. Journal of hepatology. 2021 Sep 1;75(3):659-89.

- 120. Liver Disease Committee of Chinese Research Hospital Association. Consensus on clinical application of transient elastography detecting liver fibrosis: a 2018 update. Chinese Journal of Hepatology. 2019:182-91.
- 121. Liang XE, Chen YP. Clinical application of vibration controlled transient elastography in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Journal of Clinical and Translational Hepatology. 2017 Dec 12;5(4):368.
- 122. Kong Y, Sun Y, Zhou J, Wu X, Chen Y, Piao H, Lu L, Ding H, Nan Y, Jiang W, Xu Y. Early steep decline of liver stiffness predicts histological reversal of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B patients treated with entecavir. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2019 May;26(5):576-85.
- 123. Wu S, Kong Y, Piao H, Jiang W, Xie W, Chen Y, Lu L, Ma A, Xie S, Ding H, Shang J. On-treatment changes of liver stiffness at week 26 could predict 2-year clinical outcomes in HBV-related compensated cirrhosis. Liver International. 2018 Jun;38(6):1045-54.
- 124. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis, care and treatment for people with chronic hepatitis B infection. World Health Organization; 2024 Mar 28.
- 125. De Franchis R, Bosch J, Garcia-Tsao G, Reiberger T, Ripoll C, Abraldes JG, Albillos A, Baiges A, Bajaj J, Bañares R, Barrufet M. Baveno VII–renewing consensus in portal hypertension. Journal of hepatology. 2022 Apr 1;76(4):959-74.
- 126. Wang H, Wen B, Chang X, Wu Q, Wen W, Zhou F, Guo Y, Ji Y, Gu Y, Lai Q, He Q. Baveno VI criteria and spleen stiffness measurement rule out high-risk varices in virally suppressed HBV-related cirrhosis. Journal of hepatology. 2021 Mar 1;74(3):584-92.
- 127. Wang H, Wen B, Chang X, Wu Q, Wen W, Zhou F, Guo Y, Ji Y, Gu Y, Lai Q, He Q. Baveno VI criteria and spleen stiffness measurement rule out high-risk varices in virally suppressed HBV-related cirrhosis. Journal of hepatology. 2021 Mar 1;74(3):584-92.
- 128. Fetzer DT, Rodgers SK, Seow JH, Dawkins AA, Joshi G, Gabriel H, Kamaya A. Ultrasound evaluation in patients at risk for hepatocellular carcinoma. Radiologic Clinics. 2019 May 1;57(3):563-83.
- 129. Desmet VJ. Knodell RG, Ishak KG, Black WC, Chen TS, Craig R, Kaplowitz N, Kiernan TW, Wollman J. Formulation and application of a numerical scoring system for assessing histological activity in asymptomatic chronic active hepatitis [Hepatology 1981; 1: 431–435]. Journal of Hepatology. 2003 Apr 1;38(4):382-6.
- 130. Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 1996 Aug 1;24(2):289-93.
- 131. Ishak K, Baptista A, Bianchi L, Callea F, De Groote J, Gudat F, Denk H, Desmet V, Korb G, MacSween RN, Phillips MJ. Histological grading and staging of chronic hepatitis. Journal of hepatology. 1995 Jun 1:22(6):696-9.
- 132. Nathani P, Gopal P, Rich N, Yopp A, Yokoo T, John B, Marrero J, Parikh N, Singal AG. Hepatocellular carcinoma tumour volume doubling time: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Gut. 2021 Feb 1;70(2):401-7.
- 133. Bruix J, Sherman M. Management of hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology. 2005 Nov;42(5):1208-36.
- 134. Kew MC. Epidemiology of chronic hepatitis B virus infection, hepatocellular carcinoma, and hepatitis B virus-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. Pathologie Biologie. 2010 Aug 1;58(4):273-7.
- 135. Fattovich G. Natural history and prognosis of hepatitis B. InSeminars in liver disease 2003 (Vol. 23, No. 01, pp. 047-058). Copyright© 2002 by Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc., 333 Seventh Avenue, New York, NY 10001, USA. Tel.:+ 1 (212) 584-4662.
- 136, De Masi S, Tosti ME, Mele A. Screening for hepatocellular carcinoma. Digestive and liver disease. 2005 Apr 1;37(4):260-8
- 137. Loomba R, Liu J, Yang HI, Lee MH, Lu SN, Wang LY, Iloeje UH, You SL, Brenner D, Chen CJ, REVEAL—HBV Study Group. Synergistic effects of family history of hepatocellular carcinoma and hepatitis B virus infection on risk for incident hepatocellular carcinoma. Clinical Gastroenterology and Hepatology. 2013 Dec 1;11(12):1636-45.
- 138. El-Serag HB, Richardson PA, Everhart JE. The role of diabetes in hepatocellular carcinoma: a case-control study among United States Veterans. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology ACG. 2001 Aug 1;96(8):2462-7.
- 139. El-Serag HB, Richardson PA, Everhart JE. The role of diabetes in hepatocellular carcinoma: a case-control study among United States Veterans. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology ACG. 2001 Aug 1;96(8):2462-7.
- 140. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.

- 141. Sarin S, Kumar M, Lau GK, Abbas Z, Chan HL, Chen CJ, Chen DS, Chen HL, Chen PJ, Chien RN, Dokmeci AK. Asian-Pacific clinical practice guidelines on the management of hepatitis B: a 2015 update. Hepatology international. 2016 Jan;10:1-98.
- 142. Terrault NA, Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Brown Jr RS, Bzowej NH, Wong JB. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology. 2018 Apr;67(4):1560-99.
- 143. Alshuwaykh O, Daugherty T, Cheung A, Goel A, Dhanasekaran R, Ghaziani TT, Ahmed A, Dronamraju D, Kumari R, Kwong A, Nguyen M. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in chronic hepatitis B virus infection in those not meeting criteria for antiviral therapy. Hepatology Communications. 2022 Nov;6(11):3052-61.
- 144. Huang DQ, Tran A, Yeh ML, Yasuda S, Tsai PC, Huang CF, Dai CY, Ogawa E, Ishigami M, Ito T, Kozuka R. Antiviral therapy substantially reduces HCC risk in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection in the indeterminate phase. Hepatology. 2023 Nov 1;78(5):1558-68.
- 145. Sinn DH, Kim SE, Kim BK, Kim JH, Choi MS. The risk of hepatocellular carcinoma among chronic hepatitis B virus-infected patients outside current treatment criteria. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2019 Dec;26(12):1465-72.
- 146. World Health Organization. Global hepatitis report 2024: action for access in low-and middle-income countries. World Health Organization; 2024 Apr 9.
- 147. Vo-Quang E, Lemoine M. Global elimination of HBV: Is it really achievable?. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2024 May 26.
- 148. Oru E, Trickey A, Shirali R, Kanters S, Easterbrook P. Decentralisation, integration, and task-shifting in hepatitis C virus infection testing and treatment: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Global Health. 2021 Apr 1;9(4):e431-45.
- 149. World Health Organization. Guidelines for managing advanced HIV disease and rapid initiation of antiretroviral therapy, July 2017. World Health Organization; 2017.
- 150. Jindal A, Sarin SK. Hepatitis B:"Treat all" or "Treat select". Hepatology International. 2023 Feb;17(1):38-41.
- 151. Lim YS, Kim WR, Dieterich D, Kao JH, Flaherty JF, Yee LJ, Roberts LR, Razavi H, Kennedy PT. Evidence for benefits of early treatment initiation for chronic hepatitis B. Viruses. 2023 Apr 18;15(4):997.
- 152. McNaughton AL, Lemoine M, van Rensburg C, Matthews PC. Extending treatment eligibility for chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Nature Reviews Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 2021 Mar;18(3):146-7.
- 153. Nguyen LB, Lemoine M, Ndow G, Ward ZJ, Hallet TB, D'alessandro U, Thursz M, Nayagam S, Shimakawa Y. Treat All versus targeted strategies to select HBV-infected people for antiviral therapy in The Gambia, west Africa: a cost-effectiveness analysis. The Lancet global health. 2024 Jan 1;12(1):e66-78.
- 154. Sanai FM, Alghamdi M, Dugan E, Alalwan A, Al-Hamoudi W, Abaalkhail F, AlMasri N, Razavi-Shearer D, Razavi H, Schmelzer J, Alfaleh FZ. A tool to measure the economic impact of hepatitis B elimination: a case study in Saudi Arabia. Journal of infection and public health. 2020 Nov 1;13(11):1715-23.
- 155. You H, Wang FS, Li T, Xu X, Sun Y, Nan Y, Wang G, Hou J, Duan Z, Wei L, Jia J. Guidelines for the prevention and treatment of chronic hepatitis B (version 2022). Infectious Diseases & Immunity. 2023 Oct 20;3(04):145-62.
- 156. Kao JH, Hu TH, Jia J, Kurosaki M, Lim YS, Lin HC, Sinn DH, Tanaka Y, Wai-Sun Wong V, Yuen MF. East Asia expert opinion on treatment initiation for chronic hepatitis B. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2020 Nov;52(10):1540-50.
- 157. Martin P, Nguyen MH, Dieterich DT, Lau DT, Janssen HL, Peters MG, Jacobson IM. Treatment algorithm for managing chronic hepatitis B virus infection in the United States: 2021 update. Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology. 2022 Aug 1;20(8):1766-75.
- 158. Dieterich D, Graham C, Wang S, Kwo P, Lim YS, Liu CJ, Agarwal K, Sulkowski M. It is time for a simplified approach to hepatitis B elimination. Gastro Hep Advances. 2023 Jan 1;2(2):209-18..
- 159. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis, care and treatment for people with chronic hepatitis B infection. World Health Organization; 2024 Mar 28.
- 160. Easterbrook PJ, Luhmann N, Bajis S, Min MS, Newman M, Lesi O, Doherty MC. WHO 2024 hepatitis B guidelines: an opportunity to transform care. The Lancet Gastroenterology & Hepatology. 2024 Jun 1;9(6):493-5.

- 161. Ford N, Scourse R, Lemoine M, Hutin Y, Bulterys M, Shubber Z, Donchuk D, Wandeler G. Adherence to nucleos (t) ide analogue therapies for chronic hepatitis B infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology communications. 2018 Oct;2(10):1160-7.
- 162. Hsu YC, Lin YH, Lee TY, Nguyen MH, Tseng CH, Ho HJ, Kao FY, Lin JT, Wu CY, Wu CY. Severe hepatitis B flares with hepatic decompensation after withdrawal of nucleos (t) ide analogues: a population-based cohort study. Alimentary Pharmacology & Therapeutics. 2023 Aug;58(4):463-73.
- 163. May C, Montori VM, Mair FS. We need minimally disruptive medicine. Bmj. 2009 Aug 11;339.
- 164. Musabaev E, Estes C, Sadirova S, Bakieva S, Brigida K, Dunn R, Kottilil S, Mathur P, Abutaleb A, Razavi-Shearer K, Anstiss T. Viral hepatitis elimination challenges in low-and middle-income countries—Uzbekistan Hepatitis Elimination Program (UHEP). Liver International. 2023 Apr;43(4):773-84.
- 165. Liu WB, Wu JF, Du Y, Cao GW. Cancer Evolution–Development: experience of hepatitis B virus–induced hepatocarcinogenesis. Current oncology. 2016 Feb;23(1):49-56.
- 166. An P, Xu J, Yu Y, Winkler CA. Host and Viral Genetic Variation in HBV-Related Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Front Genet. 2018 Jul 19;9.
- 167. Ramirez R, van Buuren N, Gamelin L, Soulette C, May L, Han D, Yu M, Choy R, Cheng G, Bhardwaj N, Chiu J. Targeted long-read sequencing reveals comprehensive architecture, burden, and transcriptional signatures from hepatitis B virus-associated integrations and translocations in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines. Journal of Virology. 2021 Sep 9;95(19):10-128.
- 168. Ally A, Balasundaram M, Carlsen R, Chuah E, Clarke A, Dhalla N, Holt RA, Jones SJ, Lee D, Ma Y, Marra MA. Comprehensive and integrative genomic characterization of hepatocellular carcinoma. Cell. 2017 Jun 15;169(7):1327-41.
- 169. Mak LY, Yee LJ, Wong RJ, Ramers CB, Frenette C, Hsu YC. Hepatocellular carcinoma among patients with chronic hepatitis B in the indeterminate phase. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2024.
- 170. Erken R, Loukachov V, van Dort K, van den Hurk A, Takkenberg RB, de Niet A, Jansen L, Willemse S, Reesink H, Kootstra N. Quantified integrated hepatitis B virus is related to viral activity in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Hepatology. 2022 Jul 1;76(1):196-206.
- 171. Svicher V, Salpini R, Piermatteo L, Carioti L, Battisti A, Colagrossi L, Scutari R, Surdo M, Cacciafesta V, Nuccitelli A, Hansi N. Whole exome HBV DNA integration is independent of the intrahepatic HBV reservoir in HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B. Gut. 2021 Dec 1;70(12):2337-48.
- 172. Hsu YC, Suri V, Nguyen MH, Huang YT, Chen CY, Chang IW, Tseng CH, Wu CY, Lin JT, Pan DZ, Gaggar A. Inhibition of viral replication reduces transcriptionally active distinct hepatitis B virus integrations with implications on host gene dysregulation. Gastroenterology. 2022 Apr 1;162(4):1160-70.
- 173. Chow N, Wong D, Lai CL, Mak LY, Fung J, Ma HT, Lei MW, Seto WK, Yuen MF. Effect of antiviral treatment on hepatitis B virus integration and hepatocyte clonal expansion. Clinical Infectious Diseases. 2023 Feb 1;76(3):e801-9..
- 174. Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Brown Jr RS, Wong JB, Ahmed AT, Farah W, Almasri J, Alahdab F, Benkhadra K, Mouchli MA, Singh S. Antiviral therapy for chronic hepatitis B viral infection in adults: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology. 2016 Jan;63(1):284-306.
- 175. Chang X, Wang J, Chen Y, Long Q, Song L, Li Q, Liu H, Shang Q, Yu Z, Jiang L, Xiao G. A novel nomogram to predict evident histological liver injury in patients with HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B virus infection. EBioMedicine. 2021 May 1;67.
- 176. Wandeler G, Mauron E, Atkinson A, Dufour JF, Kraus D, Reiss P, Peters L, Dabis F, Fehr J, Bernasconi E, van Der Valk M. Incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HIV/HBV-coinfected patients on tenofovir therapy: relevance for screening strategies. Journal of hepatology. 2019 Aug 1;71(2):274-80.
- 177. Lui G, Yip T, Yuen B, Sze A, Hui YT, Tse YK, Wong V, Wong G. 358. HIV Infection and the Risk of Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Patients with Hepatitis B Virus (HBV) Co-infection: A Propensity Score-matched Cohort Study. InOpen Forum Infectious Diseases 2019 Oct (Vol. 6, No. Supplement_2, pp. S188-S188). US: Oxford University Press..
- 178. Naggie S, Telep L, McQuaid T, Ramroth H, Gaggar A, Flaherty JF, Chokkalingam AP, Sulkowski MS. Risk of HCC in patients with HBV infection with and without HIV co-infection: A US administrative claims analysis. InThe Liver Meeting Digital Experience™ 2020. AASLD.

- 179. Ford N, Scourse R, Lemoine M, Hutin Y, Bulterys M, Shubber Z, Donchuk D, Wandeler G. Adherence to nucleos (t) ide analogue therapies for chronic hepatitis B infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Hepatology communications. 2018 Oct;2(10):1160-7.
- 180. Sanai FM, Alghamdi M, Dugan E, Alalwan A, Al-Hamoudi W, Abaalkhail F, AlMasri N, Razavi-Shearer D, Razavi H, Schmelzer J, Alfaleh FZ. A tool to measure the economic impact of hepatitis B elimination: a case study in Saudi Arabia. Journal of infection and public health. 2020 Nov 1;13(11):1715-23.
- 181. Lim YS, Ahn SH, Shim JJ, Razavi H, Razavi-Shearer D, Sinn DH. Impact of expanding hepatitis B treatment guidelines: a modelling and economic impact analysis. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2022 Aug;56(3):519-28.
- 182. Crossan C, Tsochatzis EA, Longworth L, Gurusamy K, Papastergiou V, Thalassinos E, Mantzoukis K, Rodriguez-Peralvarez M, O'Brien J, Noel-Storr A, Papatheodoridis GV. Cost-effectiveness of noninvasive liver fibrosis tests for treatment decisions in patients with chronic hepatitis B in the UK: systematic review and economic evaluation. Journal of viral hepatitis. 2016 Feb;23(2):139-49.
- 183. Kim HL, Kim GA, Park JA, Kang HR, Lee EK, Lim YS. Cost-effectiveness of antiviral treatment in adult patients with immune-tolerant phase chronic hepatitis B. Gut. 2021 Nov 1;70(11):2172-82.
- 184. Razavi H, Sadirova S, Bakieva S, Razavi-Shearer K, Dunn R, Musabaev E. The case for testing and treating all HBV patients. Journal of hepatology. 2020 Aug 1;73:S807.
- 185. Razavi-Shearer D, Estes C, Gamkrelidze I, Razavi H. Cost-effectiveness of treating all hepatitis B–positive individuals in the United States. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. 2023 Sep;30(9):718-26.
- 186. Lepers C, Fontaine H, Carrat F, Mathurin P, Pol S, Zoulim F, Yazdanpanah Y, Deuffic-Burban S. Cost-effectiveness of scaling-up treatment with nucleoside analogue (NA) for chronic HBV infection: Towards a simplification of recommendations?(ANRS study). Journal of Hepatology. 2020 Aug 1;73:S797-8.
- 187. Zhang S, Wang C, Liu B, Lu QB, Shang J, Zhou Y, Jia J, Xu X, Rao H, Han B, Zhao T. Cost-effectiveness of expanded antiviral treatment for chronic hepatitis B virus infection in China: an economic evaluation. The Lancet Regional Health—Western Pacific. 2023 Jun 1;35.
- 188. Lampertico P, Maini M, Papatheodoridis G. Optimal management of hepatitis B virus infection–EASL Special Conference. Journal of Hepatology. 2015 Nov 1;63(5):1238-53.
- 189. Wendon J, Cordoba J, Dhawan A, Larsen FS, Manns M, Nevens F, Samuel D, Simpson KJ, Yaron I, Bernardi M. EASL Clinical Practical Guidelines on the management of acute (fulminant) liver failure. Journal of hepatology. 2017 May 1;66(5):1047-81.
- 190. Lok AS, Heathcote EJ, Hoofnagle JH. Management of hepatitis B: 2000—summary of a workshop. Gastroenterology. 2001 Jun 1;120(7):1828-53.
- 191. Jochum C, Maischack F, Anastasiou OE, Verheyen J, Timm J, Bechmann L, Gerken G, Canbay A. Treatment of fulminant acute Hepatitis B with nucles (t) id analogues is safe and does not lead to secondary chronification of Hepatitis B. Zeitschrift für Gastroenterologie. 2016 Dec;54(12):1306-11.
- 192. Ito K, Yotsuyanagi H, Yatsuhashi H, Karino Y, Takikawa Y, Saito T, Arase Y, Imazeki F, Kurosaki M, Umemura T, Ichida T. Risk Factors for Long-term Persistence of Serum Hepatitis B Surface Antigen Following Acute Hepatitis B Virus Infection in Japanese Adults: 864. Hepatology. 2013 Oct 1;58:617A-8A.
- 193. Terrault NA, Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Brown Jr RS, Bzowej NH, Wong JB. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology. 2018 Apr;67(4):1560-99.
- 194. Sinn DH, Lee J, Goo J, Kim K, Gwak GY, Paik YH, Choi MS, Lee JH, Koh KC, Yoo BC, Paik SW. Hepatocellular carcinoma risk in chronic hepatitis B virus–infected compensated cirrhosis patients with low viral load. Hepatology. 2015 Sep;62(3):694-701.
- 195. Xing M, Sen L, Jane D, Andrew GI. Chronic hepatitis B management in clinical practice in Fuzhou Province, China: Retrospective crosssectional analysis of electronic medical record data. Hepatol Int 2020;14:1–470. doi: 10.1007/s12072-020-10030-4.
- 196. Kim JH, Sinn DH, Kang W, Gwak GY, Paik YH, Choi MS, Lee JH, Koh KC, Paik SW. Low-level viremia and the increased risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients receiving entecavir treatment. Hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;66(2):335-43.

- 197. Lai CL, Wong D, Ip P, Kopaniszen M, Seto WK, Fung J, Huang FY, Lee B, Cullaro G, Chong CK, Wu R. Reduction of covalently closed circular DNA with long-term nucleos (t) ide analogue treatment in chronic hepatitis B. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Feb 1;66(2):275-81.
- 198. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.
- 199. Marcellin P, Zoulim F, Hézode C, Causse X, Roche B, Truchi R, Pauwels A, Ouzan D, Dumortier J, Pageaux GP, Bourlière M. Effectiveness and safety of tenofovir disoproxil fumarate in chronic hepatitis B: a 3-year, prospective, real-world study in France. Digestive diseases and sciences. 2016 Oct;61:3072-83.
- 200. Yuen MF, Seto WK, Fung J, Wong DK, Yuen JC, Lai CL. Three years of continuous entecavir therapy in treatment-naive chronic hepatitis B patients: VIRAL suppression, viral resistance, and clinical safety. Official journal of the American College of Gastroenterology ACG. 2011 Jul 1;106(7):1264-71..
- 201. Fung S, Kwan P, Fabri M, Horban A, Pelemis M, Hann HW, Gurel S, Caruntu FA, Flaherty JF, Massetto B, Kim K. Tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF) vs. emtricitabine (FTC)/TDF in lamivudine resistant hepatitis B: A 5-year randomised study. Journal of Hepatology. 2017 Jan 1;66(1):11-8.
- 202. Lampertico P, Chan HL, Janssen HL, Strasser SI, Schindler R, Berg T. long-term safety of nucleoside and nucleotide analogues in HBV-monoinfected patients. Alimentary pharmacology & therapeutics. 2016 Jul;44(1):16-34.
- 203. Ha NB, Ku K, Ha NB, Chaung KT, Trinh HN, Nguyen MH. Renal function in chronic hepatitis B patients treated with tenofovir disoproxil fumarate or entecavir monotherapy: a matched case-cohort study. Journal of Clinical Gastroenterology. 2015 Nov 1;49(10):873-7.
- 204. Terrault NA, Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Brown Jr RS, Bzowej NH, Wong JB. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology. 2018 Apr;67(4):1560-99.
- 205. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.
- 206. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis, care and treatment for people with chronic hepatitis B infection. World Health Organization; 2024 Mar 28.
- 207. Lwin AA, Aye KS, Htun MM, Kyaw YY, Zaw KK, Aung TT, Kyaw MP, Kyi KP & Thant KZ. Sero-prevalence of Hepatitis B and C Viral Infections in Myanmar: National and Regional Survey in 2015. Myanmar Health Sciences Research Journal. 2017; 29 (3).
- 208. World Health Organization. World health statistics 2017: monitoring health for the SDGs. sustainable development goals. 2017 Nov:7.
- 209. World Health Organization. The Global Health Observatory-Indicators.
- 210. Wong F, Pai R, Van Schalkwyk J, Yoshida EM. Hepatitis B in pregnancy: a concise review of neonatal vertical transmission and antiviral prophylaxis. Annals of hepatology. 2014 Apr 21;13(2):187-95.
- 211. Milich DR, Jones JE, Hughes JL, Price J, Raney AK, McLachlan A. Is a function of the secreted hepatitis B e antigen to induce immunologic tolerance in utero?. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 1990 Sep;87(17):6599-603.
- 212. Hamborsky J, Kroger A, editors. Epidemiology and prevention of vaccine-preventable diseases, E-Book: The Pink Book. Public Health Foundation; 2015 Oct 19.
- 213. Hepatitis B vaccines: WHO position paper July 2017. Wkly Epidemiol Rec. 2017 Jul 7;92(27):369-92
- 214. Funk AL, Lu Y, Yoshida K, Zhao T, Boucheron P, van Holten J, Chou R, Bulterys M, Shimakawa Y. Efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2021 Jan 1;21(1):70-84.
- 215. Kumar M, Abbas Z, Azami M, Belopolskaya M, Dokmeci AK, Ghazinyan H, Jia J, Jindal A, Lee HC, Lei W, Lim SG. Asian Pacific association for the study of liver (APASL) guidelines: hepatitis B virus in pregnancy. Hepatology international. 2022 Apr;16(2):211-53.
- 216. Albano JD, Scheuerle AE, Watts DH, Beckerman KP, Mofenson LM, Pikis A, Vannappagari V, Seekins D, Cook TS, Tilson H, Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry Steering Committee. The Antiretroviral Pregnancy Registry: Three decades of prospective monitoring for birth defects. Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety. 2024 Jun;33(6):e5801.

- 217. Chang CY, Aziz N, Poongkunran M, Javaid A, Trinh HN, Lau DT, Nguyen MH. Serum aminotransferase flares in pregnant and postpartum women with current or prior treatment for chronic hepatitis B. Journal of clinical gastroenterology. 2018 Mar 1;52(3):255-61.
- 218. Pan CQ, Duan ZP, Bhamidimarri KR, Zou HB, Liang XF, Li JI, Tong MJ. An algorithm for risk assessment and intervention of mother to child transmission of hepatitis B virus. Clinical gastroenterology and hepatology. 2012 May 1;10(5):452-9.
- 219. Williamson C, Nana M, Poon L, Kupcinskas L, Painter R, Taliani G, Heneghan M, Marschall HU, Beuers U. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of liver diseases in pregnancy. Journal of hepatology. 2023 Sep 1;79(3):768-828.
- 220. Funk AL, Lu Y, Yoshida K, Zhao T, Boucheron P, van Holten J, Chou R, Bulterys M, Shimakawa Y. Efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2021 Jan 1;21(1):70-84.
- 221. Charlton MR, Alam A, Shukla A, Dashtseren B, Lesmana CR, Duger D, Payawal DA, Duy Cuong D, Jargalsaikhan G, Cua IH, Sollano JD. An expert review on the use of tenofovir alafenamide for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B virus infection in Asia. Journal of gastroenterology. 2020 Sep;55:811-23.
- 222. Wu Y, Liu J, Feng Y, Fu S, Ji F, Ge L, Yao N, Luo X, Zhao Y, Chen Y, Yang Y. Efficacy and safety of antiviral therapy for HBV in different trimesters of pregnancy: systematic review and network meta-analysis. Hepatology International. 2020 Mar;14:180-9.
- 223. Funk AL, Lu Y, Yoshida K, Zhao T, Boucheron P, van Holten J, Chou R, Bulterys M, Shimakawa Y. Efficacy and safety of antiviral prophylaxis during pregnancy to prevent mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet Infectious Diseases. 2021 Jan 1;21(1):70-84.
- 224. Zhou M, Li L, Han L, Sun F, Yi N. Breast-feeding is not a risk factor of mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B virus. International Journal of General Medicine. 2021 May 11:1819-27.
- 225. Van Rompay KK, Hamilton M, Kearney B, Bischofberger N. Pharmacokinetics of tenofovir in breast milk of lactating rhesus macaques. Antimicrobial agents and chemotherapy. 2005 May;49(5):2093-4.
- 226. Yang N, Zhou G, Cheng X, He J, Chen Y, Chen C, Li M, Ge J, Wang M, Zhang T, Ge W. Distribution evaluation of tenofovir in the breast milk of mothers with HBeAg-positive chronic HBV infection after treatment with tenofovir alafenamide and tenofovir disoproxil fumarate by a sensitive UPLC-MS/MS method. Frontiers in Pharmacology. 2021 Aug 13;12:734760.
- 227. Stinco M, Rubino C, Trapani S, Indolfi G. Treatment of hepatitis B virus infection in children and adolescents. World Journal of Gastroenterology. 2021 Sep 9;27(36):6053.
- 228. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.
- 229. Indolfi G, Abdel-Hady M, Bansal S, Debray D, Smets F, Czubkowski P, van Der Woerd W, Samyn M, Jahnel J, Gupte G, Zellos A. Management of hepatitis B virus infection and prevention of hepatitis B virus reactivation in children with acquired immunodeficiencies or undergoing immune suppressive, cytotoxic, or biological modifier therapies. Journal of Pediatric Gastroenterology and Nutrition. 2020 Apr 1;70(4):527-38.
- 230. World Health Organization. Guidelines for the prevention, diagnosis, care and treatment for people with chronic hepatitis B infection. World Health Organization; 2024 Mar 28.
- 231. Terrault NA, Lok AS, McMahon BJ, Chang KM, Hwang JP, Jonas MM, Brown Jr RS, Bzowej NH, Wong JB. Update on prevention, diagnosis, and treatment of chronic hepatitis B: AASLD 2018 hepatitis B guidance. Hepatology. 2018 Apr;67(4):1560-99.
- 232. Brunetto MR, Ricco G, Negro F, Wedemeyer H, Yurdaydin C, Asselah T, Papatheodoridis G, Gheorghe L, Agarwal K, Farci P, Buti M. EASL Clinical Practice Guidelines on hepatitis delta virus. Journal of hepatology. 2023 Aug 1;79(2):433-60.
- 233. Pawlotsky JM, Negro F, Aghemo A, Berenguer M, Dalgard O, Dusheiko G, Marra F, Puoti M, Wedemeyer H, European Association for the Study of the Liver. EASL recommendations on treatment of hepatitis C: final update of the series ★. Journal of hepatology. 2020 Nov 1;73(5):1170-218.
- 234. Lampertico P, Agarwal K, Berg T, Buti M, Janssen HL, Papatheodoridis G, Zoulim F, Tacke F. EASL 2017 Clinical Practice Guidelines on the management of hepatitis B virus infection. Journal of hepatology. 2017 Aug 1;67(2):370-98.

- 235.National Hepatitis Control Program. National simplified treatment guidelines of viral hepatitis B infection. Ministry of Health and Sports, Myanmar. July 2019. Available at https://www.globalhep.org/sites/default/files/content/resource/files/2022-10/HBV%20National%20Simplified%20Treatment%20Guideline_July%202019.pdf. [Accessed 22 March 2024].
- 236. Panel on Antiretroviral Guidelines for Adults and Adolescents. Guidelines for the Use of Antiretroviral Agents in Adults and Adolescents with HIV. Department of Health and Human Services. Available at https://clinicalinfo.hiv.gov/en/guidelines/adult-and-adolescent-arv. [Accessed 22 March 2024].

